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PART I.  FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.  Financial Statements

LEGG MASON, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
December 31,

2019
March 31,

 2019
ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 823,665 $ 921,071
Cash and cash equivalents of consolidated investment vehicles 7,320 4,219
Restricted cash 17,666 21,213
Receivables:

Investment advisory and related fees 461,790 425,470
Other 64,920 57,107

Investment securities 408,945 377,129
Investment securities of consolidated investment vehicles 105,810 129,627
Other 85,410 82,131
Other current assets of consolidated investment vehicles 406 1,889

Total Current Assets 1,975,932 2,019,856
Fixed assets, net 138,835 149,989
Intangible assets, net 3,377,517 3,386,759
Goodwill 1,896,097 1,883,554
Deferred income taxes 193,792 199,717
Right-of-use assets 295,665 —
Other 157,938 145,254
Other assets of consolidated investment vehicles 3,942 8,993

TOTAL ASSETS $ 8,039,718 $ 7,794,122
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Accrued compensation $ 591,554 $ 571,301
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 159,415 182,921
Current portion of long-term debt — 250,301
Lease liabilities 77,377 —
Other 101,150 99,479
Other current liabilities of consolidated investment vehicles 1,363 5,742

Total Current Liabilities 930,859 1,109,744
Deferred compensation 104,819 85,548
Lease liabilities 285,911 —
Deferred income taxes 181,115 123,420
Other (including unfunded pension benefit obligation of $30,266 and $33,335, respectively) 60,971 122,044
Long-term debt, net 1,972,413 1,971,451

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,536,088 3,412,207
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 9)
REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS 668,353 692,376
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  

Common stock, par value $0.10 per share; authorized 500,000,000 shares; issued 86,821,437
and 85,556,562 shares for December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2019, respectively 8,682 8,556

Additional paid-in capital 2,119,181 2,039,671
Employee stock trust (20,108) (21,416)
Deferred compensation employee stock trust 20,108 21,416
Retained earnings 1,804,251 1,742,764
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net (127,402) (131,236)
Total stockholders' equity attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. 3,804,712 3,659,755
Nonredeemable noncontrolling interest 30,565 29,784

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 3,835,277 3,689,539
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 8,039,718 $ 7,794,122
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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LEGG MASON, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS)

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended December 31, Nine Months Ended December 31,
  2019 2018 2019 2018
OPERATING REVENUES

Investment advisory fees:
Separate accounts $ 266,609 $ 256,657 $ 791,488 $ 778,119
Funds 378,995 361,173 1,121,572 1,128,660
Performance fees 39,407 12,619 81,137 68,529

Distribution and service fees 67,634 72,185 204,635 230,449
Other 1,269 1,688 3,706 4,897

Total Operating Revenues 753,914 704,322 2,202,538 2,210,654
OPERATING EXPENSES

Compensation and benefits 375,033 316,876 1,132,588 1,043,329
Distribution and servicing 104,363 108,842 313,368 339,959
Communications and technology 57,101 56,664 166,328 170,893
Occupancy 32,490 24,077 84,923 76,333
Amortization of intangible assets 6,004 6,089 16,903 18,371
Impairment of intangible assets — 365,200 — 365,200
Contingent consideration fair value

adjustments — — (1,165) 571
Other 48,929 63,001 150,687 171,021

Total Operating Expenses 623,920 940,749 1,863,632 2,185,677
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 129,994 (236,427) 338,906 24,977
NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSE)

Interest income 2,882 3,126 9,539 7,992
Interest expense (27,032) (28,770) (82,846) (88,547)
Other income (expense), net 18,009 (7,042) 29,066 6,837

Non-operating income (expense) of
consolidated investment vehicles, net 814 2,369 14,904 1,954

Total Non-Operating Income (Expense) (5,327) (30,317) (29,337) (71,764)
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX

PROVISION 124,667 (266,744) 309,569 (46,787)
Income tax provision (benefit) 33,664 (60,354) 80,466 165

NET INCOME (LOSS) 91,003 (206,390) 229,103 (46,952)

Less: Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests 16,228 10,498 41,895 31,043

NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE
TO LEGG MASON, INC. $ 74,775 $ (216,888) $ 187,208 $ (77,995)

NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO LEGG MASON,
INC. STOCKHOLDERS:
Basic $ 0.83 $ (2.55) $ 2.09 $ (0.95)
Diluted 0.83 (2.55) 2.08 (0.95)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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LEGG MASON, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(Dollars in thousands)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended December 31, Nine Months Ended December 31,
  2019 2018 2019 2018
NET INCOME (LOSS) $ 91,003 $ (206,390) $ 229,103 $ (46,952)

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation

adjustment 43,933 (14,012) 3,761 (82,032)
Changes in defined benefit pension

plan (1,174) 354 73 1,447
Total other comprehensive income

(loss) 42,759 (13,658) 3,834 (80,585)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 133,762 (220,048) 232,937 (127,537)

Less: Comprehensive income
attributable to noncontrolling
interests (16,224) 11,425 (42,728) 36,052

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO LEGG
MASON, INC. $ 149,986 $ (231,473) $ 275,665 $ (163,589)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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LEGG MASON, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(Dollars in thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
Three Months Ended 

December 31,
Nine Months Ended 

December 31,
  2019 2018 2019 2018
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO LEGG MASON, INC.

COMMON STOCK
Beginning balance $ 8,678 $ 8,550 $ 8,556 $ 8,461
Stock options exercised 1 3 37 19
Deferred compensation employee stock trust — 1 1 1
Stock-based compensation 3 — 129 112

Employee tax withholdings by settlement of net share transactions — (1) (41) (40)
Ending balance 8,682 8,553 8,682 8,553

ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL  
Beginning balance 2,103,791 2,013,541 2,039,671 1,976,364
Stock options exercised 309 583 11,612 5,814
Deferred compensation employee stock trust 181 166 525 468
Stock-based compensation 15,359 14,380 55,866 49,195
Employee tax withholdings by settlement of net share transactions (459) (84) (13,862) (15,506)
Redeemable noncontrolling interest reclassification for affiliate management equity

plans and affiliate noncontrolling interest — — 25,369 12,251
Ending balance 2,119,181 2,028,586 2,119,181 2,028,586

EMPLOYEE STOCK TRUST  
Beginning balance (20,003) (22,117) (21,416) (21,996)
Shares issued to plans (181) (167) (526) (469)
Distributions 76 901 1,834 1,082
Ending balance (20,108) (21,383) (20,108) (21,383)

DEFERRED COMPENSATION EMPLOYEE STOCK TRUST
Beginning balance 20,003 22,117 21,416 21,996
Shares issued to plans 181 167 526 469
Distributions (76) (901) (1,834) (1,082)
Ending balance 20,108 21,383 20,108 21,383

RETAINED EARNINGS
Beginning balance 1,777,014 1,981,939 1,742,764 1,894,762
Net income (loss) attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. 74,775 (216,888) 187,208 (77,995)
Dividends declared ($0.40, $0.34, $1.20, and $1.02 per share, respectively) (36,179) (28,904) (109,968) (90,345)
Reclassification to noncontrolling interest for net increase in estimated redemption

value of affiliate management equity plan and affiliate noncontrolling interests (11,359) (12,330) (15,753) (14,868)
Adoption of revenue recognition guidance — — — 12,263
Ending balance 1,804,251 1,723,817 1,804,251 1,723,817

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS, NET  
Beginning balance (170,161) (122,109) (131,236) (55,182)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 43,933 (14,012) 3,761 (82,032)
Changes in defined benefit pension plan (1,174) 354 73 1,447
Ending balance (127,402) (135,767) (127,402) (135,767)

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO LEGG MASON, INC. 3,804,712 3,625,189 3,804,712 3,625,189
NONREDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTEREST

Beginning balance 29,803 28,074 29,784 27,731
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 1,962 1,646 5,300 6,583
Distributions (1,200) (2,226) (4,519) (6,820)
Ending balance 30,565 27,494 30,565 27,494

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $3,835,277 $3,652,683 $3,835,277 $ 3,652,683
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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LEGG MASON, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollars in thousands)
(Unaudited)

  Nine Months Ended December 31,
  2019 2018
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net Income (Loss) $ 229,103 $ (46,952)
Adjustments to reconcile Net Income (Loss) to net cash provided by

operations:
Depreciation and amortization 51,000 54,031
Accretion and amortization of securities discounts and premiums, net 921 1,591
Stock-based compensation 57,949 49,975
Net unrealized (gains) losses on investments (20,816) 40,446
Net gains and earnings on investments (9,739) (36,495)
Net (gains) losses of consolidated investment vehicles (14,904) (1,954)
Deferred income taxes 71,648 (19,634)
Impairment of intangible assets — 365,200
Tax expense for new Tax Law — 2,164
Contingent consideration fair value adjustments (1,165) 571
Other 629 286

Decrease (increase) in assets:
Investment advisory and related fees receivable (35,807) 38,170
Net (purchases) sales of trading and other investments (12,316) 20,375
Other receivables (13,744) (16,555)
Other assets 229 (6,282)
Assets of consolidated investment vehicles 54,869 (751)

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accrued compensation 20,084 51,796
Deferred compensation 19,271 (10,464)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (25,259) 31,130
Other liabilities 9,510 (83,376)
Other liabilities of consolidated investment vehicles (4,379) 10,717

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 377,084 $ 443,989

(Continued)
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LEGG MASON, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(Dollars in thousands)
(Unaudited)

  Nine Months Ended December 31,
  2019 2018
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Business acquisition, net of cash acquired of $992 $ (10,247) $ —
Payments for fixed assets (23,209) (38,062)
Contingent payment from prior sale of business — 923
Business investment (12,793) —
Returns of capital and proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 7,170 10,211

CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (39,079) (26,928)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

Repayment of long-term debt (250,000) —
Dividends paid (102,044) (84,630)
Distributions to affiliate noncontrolling interests (27,906) (32,358)
Payment of contingent consideration (250) (4,319)
Purchase of affiliate noncontrolling interests (10,547) (16,528)
Net (redemptions) subscriptions attributable to noncontrolling interests (32,635) (36,328)
Employee tax withholdings by settlement of net share transactions (13,903) (15,547)
Issuances of common stock for stock-based compensation 12,175 6,029
Decrease in short-term borrowings — (125,500)

CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (425,110) (309,181)
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES (12,871) (16,470)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND
       RESTRICTED CASH (99,975) 91,410
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED CASH:

BEGINNING OF PERIOD 950,795 773,765
END OF PERIOD $ 850,820 $ 865,175

Supplemental Disclosures
Cash paid for:  

Income taxes, net of refunds of $3,736 and $251, respectively $ 14,664 $ 30,542
Interest 67,718 69,748

As of December 31,
Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 2019 2018

Cash and cash equivalents $ 823,665 $ 835,168
Restricted cash:

Corporate restricted cash 17,666 22,336
Cash and cash equivalents of consolidated investment vehicles 7,320 3,528
Affiliate employee benefit trust cash included in Other non-current assets 2,169 4,143
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash per consolidated statements

of cash flows $ 850,820 $ 865,175
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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LEGG MASON, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts or unless otherwise noted)
December 31, 2019 

(Unaudited)

1.  Interim Basis of Reporting

The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of Legg Mason, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively 
“Legg Mason”) have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (the "SEC").  The interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the interim basis of 
reporting and, as such, reflect all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) which are, in the opinion 
of management, necessary for a fair statement of the results for the periods presented.  The preparation of interim consolidated 
financial statements requires management to make assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the interim 
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.  Actual amounts could differ from those estimates and the 
differences could have a material impact on the interim consolidated financial statements.  Terms such as “we,” “us,” “our,” 
and “Company” refer to Legg Mason.

The nature of Legg Mason's business is such that the results of any interim period are not necessarily indicative of the results 
of a full year.  Certain disclosures included in the Company's annual report are not required to be included on an interim 
basis in the Company's Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q.  The Company has condensed or omitted these disclosures.  Certain 
amounts in prior period financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.

The information contained in the interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated 
financial statements contained within Legg Mason's latest Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC.

2. Significant Accounting Policies 

Leases
Effective April 1, 2019 Legg Mason adopted updated accounting guidance on leases which requires right-of-use ("ROU") 
assets and lease liabilities to be recorded on the balance sheet for leases.  The guidance specifies that at the inception of a 
contract, an entity must determine whether the contract is or contains a lease.  The contract is or contains a lease if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of the property, plant, or equipment for a designated term in exchange for 
consideration.  Legg Mason’s evaluation of its contracts to determine whether they are or contain a lease involves assessing 
whether there is a right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use and the right to direct the use of the 
identified asset in the contract.

Legg Mason adopted the guidance on a modified retrospective basis as of April 1, 2019, such that related amounts in prior 
periods have not been restated.  Legg Mason has operating leases that primarily relate to real property and financing leases 
that relate to equipment.  As a practical expedient, Legg Mason has elected to not capitalize leases with a term of 12 months 
or less without a purchase option that it is likely to exercise.  Also as a practical expedient for disclosure, Legg Mason has 
elected to not separate lease and non-lease components on operating and financing leases.  Lease components are payment 
items directly attributable to the use of the underlying asset, while non-lease components are explicit elements of a contract 
not directly related to the use of the underlying asset, including pass through operating expenses such as common area 
maintenance, real estate taxes and utilities.  

ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized on the consolidated balance sheet at the present value of the future lease 
payments over the life of the lease term.  As implicit rates for leases are not determinable, the Company uses discount rates 
based on incremental borrowing rates, on a collateralized basis, for the respective underlying assets, for terms similar to the 
respective leases.  Lease costs are included as Occupancy expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).  Fixed 
base payments on operating leases paid directly to the lessor are recorded as lease expense on a straight-line basis.  Related 
variable payments based on usage, changes in an index or market rate are expensed as incurred.  Payments on financing 
leases are recorded as lease expense on a level-yield basis.

Upon adoption on April 1, 2019, Legg Mason recorded ROU assets of $342,418 and lease liabilities of $411,115 related to 
its real property operating leases and equipment financing leases.  As further discussed in Note 8, Legg Mason has subleased 
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or has vacated and is pursuing subleases for certain office space.  As of March 31, 2019, the lease reserve liability for 
subleased space and vacated space for which subleases were being pursued of $24,063 was included in other current and 
non-current liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet under prior accounting guidance.  Upon adoption of the updated 
guidance, the existing lease reserve liability was reclassified as a reduction of the ROU assets. ROU assets are tested for 
impairment when circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable.

The adoption of this guidance did not require a cumulative effect adjustment or have a material impact on the Consolidated 
Statements of Income (Loss) or Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

See Note 8 for additional information.    

Income Taxes
During the three months ended December 31, 2018, discrete tax expenses of approximately $14,100 related to uncertain 
federal, state and local tax positions (including those related to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017), along with approximately 
$700 of other discrete tax expenses, reduced the effective income tax rate by 5.5 percentage points for the three months 
ended December 31, 2018. Also, during the three months ended September 30, 2018 and June 30, 2018, tax benefits totaling 
$2,800 related to the completion of a prior year tax audit along with $1,100 related to other discrete expenses were recognized. 
Together, the net impact of these discrete tax items reduced the effective income tax rate by 27.4 percentage points for the 
nine months ended December 31, 2018.

Recent Accounting Developments 
In January 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") updated guidance to simplify the test for goodwill 
impairment. The updated guidance still requires entities to perform annual goodwill impairment tests by comparing the fair 
value of a reporting unit with its related carrying amount, but it eliminates the requirement to potentially calculate the implied 
fair value of goodwill to determine the amount of impairment, if any. Under the new guidance, an entity should recognize 
an impairment charge if the reporting unit's carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value, in the amount of such 
excess. The guidance will be effective in fiscal 2021, unless adopted earlier. Legg Mason is evaluating its adoption.

In August 2018, the FASB updated the guidance to clarify accounting for implementation costs incurred for a cloud computing 
arrangement that is a service contract. The update conforms the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred 
in a cloud computing arrangement that is a service contract with the accounting guidance that provides for capitalization of 
costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use-software.  The updated guidance is effective for Legg Mason in fiscal 2021, 
unless adopted earlier.  Legg Mason is evaluating its adoption. 

In August 2018, the FASB also updated the guidance for fair value measurements.  The updated guidance modifies disclosure 
requirements based on the revised FASB Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting finalized in August 2018 to improve 
effectiveness of financial statement disclosures.  The updated guidance will be effective in fiscal 2021, unless adopted earlier.  
Legg Mason is evaluating its adoption.

In December 2019, the FASB updated guidance to simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions 
to the general principles of income tax accounting guidance to reduce the costs and complexity of application.  These 
exceptions relate to intraperiod allocations, deferred tax liabilities with respect to foreign subsidiaries and foreign equity 
method investments, and income tax benefits recognized on interim period losses.  The updated guidance also amends and 
clarifies other areas of income tax accounting guidance to improve consistency and simplify application. The updated 
guidance will be effective in fiscal 2022, unless adopted earlier. Legg Mason is evaluating its adoption. 
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3. Investments and Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 

The disclosures below include details of Legg Mason's financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value 
and net asset value ("NAV"), excluding the financial assets and financial liabilities of consolidated investment vehicles 
("CIVs"). See Note 16, Variable Interest Entities and Consolidation of Investment Vehicles, for information related to the 
assets and liabilities of CIVs that are measured at fair value or NAV.

The fair values of financial assets and (liabilities) of the Company were determined using the following categories of inputs:

As of December 31, 2019

 

Quoted prices
in active
markets

(Level 1)

Significant
other

observable
inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)

Investments
measured at

NAV Total
Assets:

Cash equivalents(1) $ 429,557 $ 13,098 $ — $ — $ 442,655
Equity investments:(2)

Seed capital investments 73,738 29,352 21,546 1,650 126,286
Investments related to long-

term incentive plans 258,040 — — — 258,040
Other investments 14,965 2,027 — — 16,992

Equity method investments:(3)

Seed capital investments(4) — — 43,340 12,035 55,375
Investments related to long-

term incentive plans(2) — — — 7,625 7,625
Other investments(4) — — 53 9,533 9,586

Adjusted cost investments(4) — 73 26,366 — 26,439

Derivative assets(5) 3,074 — — — 3,074
Total $ 779,374 $ 44,550 $ 91,305 $ 30,843 $ 946,072

Liabilities:
Contingent consideration 

liabilities(6) $ — $ — $ (3,376) $ — $ (3,376)
Derivative liabilities(5) (1,362) — — — (1,362)

Total $ (1,362) $ — $ (3,376) $ — $ (4,738)
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As of March 31, 2019

 

Quoted prices
in active
markets

(Level 1)

Significant
other

observable
inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)

Investments
measured at

NAV Total
Assets:

Cash equivalents(1) $ 556,231 $ 20,160 $ — $ — $ 576,391
Equity investments:(2)

Seed capital investments 98,276 30,601 1,455 2,183 132,515
Investments related to long-

term incentive plans 211,802 — — — 211,802
Other investments 19,486 2,142 — — 21,628

Equity method investments:(3)

Seed capital investments(4) — — 40,854 10,675 51,529
Investments related to long-

term incentive plans(2) — — — 11,184 11,184
Other investments(4) — — 1,218 10,251 11,469

Adjusted cost investments(4) — 74 12,171 — 12,245

Derivative assets(5) 4,183 — — — 4,183
Total $ 889,978 $ 52,977 $ 55,698 $ 34,293 $ 1,032,946

Liabilities:
Contingent consideration 

liabilities(6) $ — $ — $ (1,415) $ — $ (1,415)
Derivative liabilities(5) (7,579) — — — (7,579)

Total $ (7,579) $ — $ (1,415) $ — $ (8,994)
(1) Cash investments in actively traded money market funds are classified as Level 1.  Cash investments in time deposits and other are measured at 

amortized cost, which approximates fair value because of the short time between purchase of the instrument and its expected realization and are 
classified as Level 2.

(2) Included in Investment securities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
(3) Primarily investments in private equity and real estate funds.  These equity method investments are investment companies that primarily record 

underlying investments at fair value.  Therefore, the fair value of these investments is measured using Legg Mason's share of the investee's underlying 
net income or loss, which is predominately representative of fair value adjustments in the investments held by the equity method investee.  Other 
equity method investments not measured at fair value on a recurring basis of $27,051 and $28,160 as of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2019, 
respectively, are excluded from the tables above.

(4) Included in Other noncurrent assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
(5) See Note 14.
(6) See Note 9.

The net realized and unrealized gains (losses) for investment securities classified as equity investments were $25,698 and 
$(34,793) for the three months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and $30,938 and $(25,246) for the nine 
months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.  

The net unrealized gains (losses) relating to equity investments still held as of the reporting date were $21,441 and $(38,741)
for the three months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and $13,765 and $(51,313) for the nine months ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Seed capital investments represent investments made by Legg Mason to fund new investment products and strategies.  As 
of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2019, seed capital investments totaled $220,077 and $227,756, respectively, with 
investments in excess of $1,000 in 45 funds and 52 funds, respectively, comprising over 90% of the total at each period end.  
Seed capital investments presented in the tables above exclude $38,416 and $43,712, as of December 31, 2019 and March 
31, 2019, respectively, which is related to Legg Mason's investments in CIVs.  See Note 16 for additional information 
regarding Legg Mason's investments in CIVs.    
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The changes in financial assets and (liabilities) measured at fair value using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are 
presented in the tables below:

 

Balance
 as of    

September 30, 
2019 Purchases Sales

Redemptions/
Settlements/

Other Transfers

Realized
and

unrealized
gains/

(losses),
net

Balance
 as of 

December 31, 
2019

Assets:
Equity investments -

seed capital $ 20,200 $ 1,000 — — — 346 21,546
Equity method investments:

Seed capital
investments 43,252 283 — (2,073) — 1,878 43,340

Other 1,297 — — (1,209) — (35) 53
Adjusted cost

investments 22,869 3,497 — — — — 26,366
  $ 87,618 $ 3,780 $ — $ (3,282) $ — $ 1,843 $ 91,305
Liabilities:
Contingent

consideration
liabilities $ (3,625) $ — n/a $ 250 n/a $ (1) $ (3,376)

 

Balance
 as of  

September 30, 
2018 Purchases Sales

Redemptions/
Settlements/

Other Transfers

Realized
and

unrealized
gains/

(losses),
net

Balance
 as of 

December 31, 
2018

Assets:
Equity investments -

seed capital $ 1,394 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ (128) $ 1,266
Equity method investments:

Seed capital
investments 37,020 5,516 — (1,880) — 398 41,054

Other 1,840 — — (19) — — 1,821
Adjusted cost

investments 10,906 1,063 — — — 3 11,972
  $ 51,160 $ 6,579 $ — $ (1,899) $ — $ 273 $ 56,113
Liabilities:
Contingent

consideration
liabilities $ (1,900) $ — n/a $ — n/a $ — $ (1,900)
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Balance
 as of

March 31,
2019 Purchases Sales

Redemptions/
Settlements/

Other Transfers

Realized
and

unrealized
gains/

(losses),
net

Balance
 as of

December 31,
2019

Assets:
Equity Investments - seed

capital $ 1,455 $ 21,200 $ — $ (1,457) $ — $ 348 $ 21,546
Equity method investments:

Seed capital investments 40,854 2,621 — (3,045) — 2,910 43,340
Other 1,218 — — (1,222) — 57 53

Adjusted cost investments 12,171 14,318 — (125) — 2 26,366
  $ 55,698 $ 38,139 $ — $ (5,849) $ — $ 3,317 $ 91,305
Liabilities:
Contingent consideration

liabilities $ (1,415) (3,389) n/a $ 250 n/a $ 1,178 $ (3,376)

 

Balance
 as of

March 31,
2018 Purchases Sales

Redemptions/
Settlements/

Other Transfers

Realized
and

unrealized
gains/

(losses),
net

Balance
 as of

December 31,
2018

Assets:
Equity Investments - seed

capital $ 1,242 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 24 $ 1,266
Equity method investments:

Seed capital investments 33,725 9,483 — (4,280) — 2,126 41,054
Other — 1,650 — (19) — 190 1,821

Adjusted cost investments 6,951 5,063 — (2) — (40) 11,972
  $ 41,918 $ 16,196 $ — $ (4,301) $ — $ 2,300 $ 56,113
Liabilities:
Contingent consideration

liabilities $ (5,607) $ — n/a $ 4,319 n/a $ (612) $ (1,900)

Realized and unrealized gains and losses recorded for Level 3 investments are included in Other non-operating income 
(expense), net, in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss).  The change in unrealized gains for Level 3 investments 
and liabilities still held at the reporting date was $1,776 and $275 for the three months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively, and $4,089 and $2,336 for the nine months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Level 3 purchases for the nine months ended December 31, 2019 reflect a seed capital investment in a real estate-focused 
fund designed for individual investors and an adjusted cost minority investment in a U.K. retirement solutions provider.  
There were no significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the three or nine months ended December 31, 2019 
and 2018.
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As a practical expedient, Legg Mason relies on the NAV of certain investments as their fair value.  The NAVs that have been 
provided by the investees have been derived from the fair values of the underlying investments as of the respective reporting 
dates.  The following table summarizes the nature of these investments and any related liquidation restrictions or other 
factors which may impact the ultimate value realized:

Fair Value Determined Using NAV As of December 31, 2019
Category of
Investment Investment Strategy

December 31,
2019

March 31,
 2019  

Unfunded
Commitments

Remaining
Term

Funds-of-hedge
funds

Global macro, fixed
income, long/short
equity, natural resources,
systematic, emerging
market, European hedge $ 11,905 (1) $ 9,910 n/a n/a

Hedge funds

Fixed income -
developed market, event
driven, fixed income -
hedge, relative value
arbitrage, European
hedge 1,049 1,515 n/a n/a

Private equity
funds Long/short equity 10,244 (2) 11,636 $ 5,698

Up to 10
years

Equity method
investments
related to
long-term
incentive plans

Alternatives, structured
securities, short-dated
fixed income 7,625 (2) 11,185 n/a n/a

Other Various 20 47 n/a Various
Total   $ 30,843 $ 34,293 $ 5,698  

n/a - not applicable
(1) Liquidation restrictions:  14% monthly redemption, 1% quarterly redemption, and 85% are not subject to redemption or are not currently redeemable.
(2) Liquidations are expected over the remaining term.

There are no current plans to sell any of these investments held as of December 31, 2019.

4.  Acquisition 

On April 10, 2019, Clarion Partners acquired a majority stake in Gramercy Europe (Jersey) Limited ("Gramercy"), a European 
real estate investment business specializing in pan-European logistics and industrial assets. The transaction required an 
initial cash payment of $10,247 (net of cash acquired), which was paid by Clarion Partners using existing cash resources, 
and a potential contingent consideration payment of up to approximately $3,735 (using the foreign exchange rate as of April 
10, 2019, for the €3,315 potential payment), due on the fifth anniversary of closing upon the achievement of certain financial 
metrics.

In connection with the acquisition, Clarion Partners recognized an amortizable intangible asset management contracts asset 
of $5,876, with a useful life of eight years at acquisition, goodwill of $20,196, and noncontrolling interest of $11,715.  The 
fair value of the contingent consideration at acquisition was $3,389.
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5. Fixed Assets 

The following table reflects the components of fixed assets as of:

December 31, 2019 March 31, 2019
Software $ 276,096 $ 269,944
Leasehold improvements 213,439 212,742
Equipment 162,795 159,421

Total cost 652,330 642,107
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (513,495) (492,118)
Fixed assets, net $ 138,835 $ 149,989

Depreciation and amortization expense related to fixed assets was $12,252 and $11,799 for the three months ended December 
31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and $34,098 and $35,659 for the nine months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively.

6. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

The following table reflects the components of intangible assets as of:

  December 31, 2019 March 31, 2019
Amortizable intangible asset management contracts and other    

Cost $ 372,808 $ 366,930
Accumulated amortization (257,410) (240,488)

Net(1) 115,398 126,442
Indefinite–life intangible assets

U.S. domestic mutual fund management contracts 2,106,351 2,106,351
Clarion Partners fund management contracts 505,200 505,200
EnTrust Global fund management contracts 126,804 126,804
Other fund management contracts 475,069 473,360
Trade names 48,695 48,602

  3,262,119 3,260,317
Intangible assets, net $ 3,377,517 $ 3,386,759

(1)  As of December 31, 2019, includes $5,305 related to the acquisition of Gramercy by Clarion Partners.  See Note 4 for additional information.

Certain of Legg Mason's intangible assets are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar and balances related to 
these assets will fluctuate with changes in the related foreign currency exchange rates.

Indefinite-life Intangible Assets and Goodwill 
Legg Mason performed its annual impairment testing of goodwill and indefinite-life intangible assets as of October 31, 
2019, and determined that there was no impairment in the value of these assets.  As a result of uncertainty regarding future 
market conditions and economic results, assessing the fair value of the reporting unit and intangible assets requires 
management to exercise significant judgment.

Legg Mason's goodwill impairment testing noted the assessed fair value of the Global Asset Management business reporting 
unit exceeded its related carrying value by 22%.

The assessed fair values of the EnTrust Global indefinite-life fund management contracts and trade name assets exceeded 
their respective carrying values of $126,804 and $10,300 by 10% and 6%, respectively.

Should market performance, flows, and/or related assets under management ("AUM") levels decrease in the near term, or 
other factors change, such that cash flow projections deviate from current projections, it is reasonably possible that these 
assets could become impaired, and the impairment could be a material amount.
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Legg Mason also determined that no triggering events occurred as of December 31, 2019 that would require further 
impairment testing. 

Legg Mason's annual impairment testing process in the prior fiscal year determined that the carrying values of the EnTrust 
Global indefinite-life fund management contracts and trade name assets, and the RARE Infrastructure indefinite-life fund 
management contracts and trade name assets, exceeded their respective fair values, which resulted in impairment charges 
totaling $358,800 in the quarter ended December 31, 2018. 

The impairment charges at EnTrust Global in the prior year were primarily the result of continued net client outflows from 
legacy high net worth fund-of-fund products leading to reduced growth expectations in both management fees and 
performance fees, a declining margin, and a higher discount rate. These changes resulted in a reduction of the projected cash 
flows and Legg Mason’s overall assessment of fair value of the assets, such that the carrying values of the EnTrust Global 
fund management contracts intangible asset of $401,404 and trade name asset of $28,500 were impaired by $274,600 and 
$18,200, respectively. Management estimated the fair values of these assets based upon discounted cash flow analyses, as 
well as a relief from royalty method for the trade name asset, using unobservable market inputs, which are Level 3 
measurements. The significant assumptions used in the cash flow analyses included projected revenue growth rates, discount 
rates, and royalty rates. Base revenues related to the EnTrust Global fund management contracts were assumed to have 
annual growth (contraction) rates ranging from (19.4)% to 3.9% (average: 3.0%), and the projected cash flows from the 
EnTrust Global fund management contracts were discounted at 17%. Base revenues related to the EnTrust Global trade 
name asset were assumed to have annual growth rates ranging from 0.0% to 4.6% (average: 3.9%), a royalty rate of 1.0%, 
and a discount rate of 16.5%.

The impairment charges at RARE Infrastructure in the prior year were primarily the result of lower than expected net client 
inflows and performance fees, leading to a lower margin, and a higher discount rate. These changes resulted in a reduction 
of the related projected cash flows and Legg Mason’s overall assessment of fair value of the assets, such that the RARE 
Infrastructure fund management contracts asset carrying value of approximately $120,800 and trade name asset carrying 
value of $2,800 were impaired by $65,000 and $1,000, respectively. Management estimated the fair values of these assets 
based upon discounted cash flow analyses, as well as a relief from royalty method for the trade name asset, using unobservable 
market inputs, which are Level 3 measurements. The significant assumptions used in the cash flow analyses included 
projected revenue growth rates, discount rates, and royalty rates. Base revenues related to the RARE Infrastructure fund 
management contracts were assumed to have annual growth rates ranging from 4.4% to 4.9% (average: 4.8%), and the 
projected cash flows from the RARE Infrastructure fund management contracts were discounted at 16.5%. Base revenues 
related to the RARE Infrastructure trade name asset were assumed to have annual growth rates ranging from 0.9% to 4.6%
(average: 4.2%), a royalty rate of 1.0%, and a discount rate of 16.5%.

The change in carrying value of goodwill is summarized below:

Gross Book Value Accumulated Impairment Net Book Value
Balance as of March 31, 2019 $ 3,045,454 $ (1,161,900) $ 1,883,554
Impact of excess tax basis amortization (8,256) — (8,256)
Changes in foreign exchange rates 603 — 603
Business acquisition(1) 20,196 — 20,196
Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ 3,057,997 $ (1,161,900) $ 1,896,097

(1)  See Note 4 for additional information.

Amortizable Intangible Asset Management Contracts and Other

There were no impairments to amortizable management contract intangible assets during the three or nine months ended 
December 31, 2019.

During the three months ended December 31, 2018, projected revenues related to the RARE Infrastructure separate account 
contracts asset declined due to losses of separate account clients and AUM. Based on revised attrition estimates, the remaining 
useful life was decreased from three and one-half to two years at December 31, 2018. As a result of the decline in projected 
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revenues and the revised estimate of useful life, the amortized carrying value of approximately $6,900 as of December 31, 
2018 was determined to exceed its fair value and an impairment charge of $6,400 was recorded during the three months 
ended December 31, 2018. Management estimated the fair value of this asset as of December 31, 2018, based on a discounted 
cash flow analysis using unobservable market inputs, which are Level 3 measurements. In addition to the useful life, other 
significant assumptions used in the cash flow analysis included projected revenue growth rates of 7% and a discount rate 
of 16.5%.

As of December 31, 2019, amortizable intangible asset management contracts and other are being amortized over a weighted-
average remaining life of 5.6 years.

Estimated amortization expense for each of the next five fiscal years and thereafter is as follows:

Remaining fiscal 2020 $ 5,640
2021 21,834
2022 21,485
2023 20,725
2024 19,896
Thereafter 25,818
Total $ 115,398

7. Long-Term Debt 

Long-term debt, net, consists of the following:

  December 31, 2019
March 31,

2019

 
Carrying

Value

Unamortized
Discount

(Premium)

Unamortized
Debt Issuance

Costs
Maturity
Amount

Carrying
Value

3.95% Senior Notes due July 2024 $ 248,917 $ 206 $ 877 $ 250,000 $ 248,738
4.75% Senior Notes due March 2026 447,786 — 2,214 450,000 447,521
5.625% Senior Notes due January 2044 548,079 (2,938) 4,859 550,000 548,020
6.375% Junior Notes due March 2056 242,614 — 7,386 250,000 242,461
5.45% Junior Notes due September 2056 485,017 — 14,983 500,000 484,711
2.7% Senior Notes due July 2019 — — — — 250,301

Subtotal 1,972,413 (2,732) 30,319 2,000,000 2,221,752
Less:  Current portion — — — — (250,301)
Total $ 1,972,413 $ (2,732) $ 30,319 $ 2,000,000 $1,971,451

On July 15, 2019, Legg Mason repaid the $250,000 of 2.7% Senior Notes due July 2019, using existing cash resources. The 
remaining $2,000,000 of long-term debt outstanding as of December 31, 2019 matures after fiscal 2024.

As of December 31, 2019, the estimated fair value of long-term debt was $2,170,660. The fair value of debt was estimated 
using publicly quoted market prices and was classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

8. Leases 

Legg Mason leases over 1,500 square feet of office space with approximately one-third currently subleased to various firms, 
the majority of which are within the U.S.  Office facilities and equipment are leased under various non-cancelable operating 
leases and certain equipment is also leased under financing leases.  Legg Mason's current leases have remaining terms that 
vary up to 19 years.  Certain leases provide for options to extend up to 15 years and/or options to terminate within seven 
years. 
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As previously disclosed in Note 2, the lease reserve liability related to our subleased space and vacated space for which 
subleases are being pursued was $24,063 as of March 31, 2019.  Upon adoption of the updated lease accounting guidance 
on April 1, 2019, the existing Other current and non-current liabilities were reclassified as a reduction of the ROU asset 
recorded in accordance with the updated guidance.

Leases included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets were as follows:

Classification As of December 31, 2019
Operating leases:

Operating lease ROU assets Right-of-use assets $ 294,174
Operating lease liabilities Lease liabilities 361,921

Finance leases:
Property and equipment, gross Right-of-use assets $ 2,134

Less: accumulated depreciation Right-of-use assets (643)
Property and equipment, net $ 1,491

Finance lease liabilities Lease liabilities $ 1,367

The components of lease expense included in the Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss) were as follows:

Classification
Three Months Ended
December 31, 2019

Nine Months Ended
December 31, 2019

Operating lease cost Occupancy expense $ 25,361 $ 67,172
Financing lease cost:

Amortization of right-of-use asset Occupancy expense 251 737
Interest on lease liabilities Interest expense 11 36

Total finance lease cost 262 773
Short-term lease cost Occupancy expense 1,190 4,885
Variable lease cost(1) Occupancy expense 6,599 17,788
Less:  sublease billings Occupancy expense (6,091) (18,624)
Net lease cost(2) $ 27,321 $ 71,994

(1) Variable lease cost includes operating expenses, real estate and other taxes.  Variable lease costs are determined by whether they are to be included 
in base rent and if amounts are based on a consumer price index.

(2) Excludes other occupancy expense of $5,292 and $13,123 for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2019, respectively, related to leasehold 
amortization.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2019, in connection with Legg Mason's strategic restructuring, as further discussed 
in Note 15, it was determined that the carrying values of certain right-of-use assets would not be recoverable.  Related 
impairment charges of $4,328 (exclusive of accelerated depreciation of $1,603) were recognized in the three months ended 
December 31, 2019, and are included in operating lease cost in the table above and in Occupancy expense in the Consolidated 
Statement of Income (Loss).  The fair value of the right-of-use asset related to a substantial portion of the charge was estimated 
based on various assumptions, including the prevailing rental rates in the applicable market and the amount of time it will 
take to secure a sublease agreement.
  
Lease expense incurred in the three and nine months ended December 31, 2018 was $20,445 and $64,649, respectively, 
excluding leasehold amortization of $3,632 and $11,684, respectively.

Sublease amounts billed are recorded as a reduction of Occupancy expense in the Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss).  
The amounts billed are primarily fixed base rental payments combined with variable lease cost reimbursements.  Sublease 
amounts related to base rent are recorded on a straight-line basis.
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As of December 31, 2019, undiscounted future cash flows for each of the next five fiscal years and thereafter related to 
operating and finance leases were as follows:

Operating
Leases

Finance
Leases Total

Remaining fiscal 2020 $ 23,181 $ 263 $ 23,444
2021 88,048 714 88,762
2022 86,385 271 86,656
2023 84,530 131 84,661
2024 70,210 35 70,245
Thereafter 46,472 5 46,477
Total lease payments 398,826 1,419 400,245

Less:  Imputed interest (36,905) (52) (36,957)
Present value of lease liabilities $ 361,921 $ 1,367 $ 363,288

As of December 31, 2019, the weighted-average remaining lease terms and weighted-average discount rates for operating 
and finance leases were as follows:

Operating Leases Finance Leases
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years) 4.8 2.0
Weighted-average discount rates 4.0% 3.1%

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows:

Nine Months Ended
December 31, 2019

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 64,470
Financing cash flows from finance leases 727

There was no significant non-cash lease activity for the nine months ended December 31, 2019.

As of March 31, 2019, minimum aggregate rentals under operating leases were as follows:

Operating 
Leases(1)

2020 $ 90,667
2021 86,095
2022 84,485
2023 83,425
2024 72,192
Thereafter 47,240
Total $ 464,104

(1)  The minimum rental commitments have not been reduced by $105,193 for minimum sublease rentals to be received under non-cancelable subleases.
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9. Commitments and Contingencies

As of December 31, 2019, Legg Mason had commitments to invest $17,588 in limited partnerships that make private 
investments.  These commitments are expected to be outstanding, or funded as required, through the end of their respective 
investment periods ranging through fiscal 2030. Also, in connection with the acquisition of Clarion Partners in April 2016, 
Legg Mason committed to ultimately provide $100,000 of seed capital to Clarion Partners products.

As of December 31, 2019, Legg Mason also had future commitments totaling $102,794 related to multi-year agreements 
for certain services, of which $20,087, $39,348 and $21,534 will be due during the remainder of fiscal 2020, and in fiscal 
2021 and fiscal 2022, respectively.  The remaining $21,825 is due through fiscal 2027.    

In the normal course of business, Legg Mason enters into contracts that contain a variety of representations and warranties 
and that provide general indemnifications, which are not considered financial guarantees by relevant accounting guidance.   
Legg Mason’s maximum exposure under these arrangements is unknown, as this would involve future claims that may be 
made against Legg Mason that have not yet occurred.

Legg Mason has been the subject of customer complaints and has also been named as a defendant in various legal actions 
arising primarily from asset management, securities brokerage, and investment banking activities, including certain class 
actions, which primarily allege violations of securities laws and seek unspecified damages, which could be substantial.  In 
the normal course of its business, Legg Mason has also received subpoenas and is currently involved in other governmental 
and industry self-regulatory agency inquiries, investigations and, from time to time, proceedings involving asset management 
activities.  In accordance with guidance for accounting for contingencies, Legg Mason has established provisions for 
estimated losses from pending complaints, legal actions, investigations and proceedings when it is probable that a loss has 
been incurred and a reasonable estimate of loss can be made.

There are matters of litigation and other proceedings, including those described above as customer complaints, legal actions, 
inquiries, proceedings and investigations, where Legg Mason cannot estimate the reasonably possible loss or range of loss.  
The inability to provide a reasonably possible amount or range of losses is not because there is uncertainty as to the ultimate 
outcome of a matter, but because liability and damage issues have not developed to the point where Legg Mason can conclude 
that there is both a reasonable possibility of a loss and a meaningful amount or range of possible losses.  There are numerous 
aspects to customer complaints, legal actions, inquiries, proceedings and investigations that prevent Legg Mason from 
estimating a related amount or range of reasonably possible losses.  These aspects include, among other things, the nature 
of the matters; that significant relevant facts are not known, are uncertain or are in dispute; and that damages sought are not 
specified, are uncertain, unsupportable or unexplained.  In addition, for legal actions, discovery may not yet have started, 
may not be complete or may not be conclusive, and meaningful settlement discussions may not have occurred.  Further, for 
regulatory matters, investigations may run their course without any clear indication of wrongdoing or fault until their 
conclusion.

In management's opinion, an adequate accrual has been made as of December 31, 2019, to provide for any probable losses 
that may arise from matters for which the Company could reasonably estimate an amount.  Legg Mason's financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows could be materially affected during a period in which probable losses become apparent 
or a matter is ultimately resolved.  In addition, the ultimate costs of litigation-related charges can vary significantly from 
period-to-period, depending on factors such as market conditions, the size and volume of customer complaints and claims, 
including class action suits, and recoveries from indemnification, contribution, insurance reimbursement, or reductions in 
compensation under revenue share arrangements.

Noncontrolling Interests
Legg Mason may be obligated to settle redeemable noncontrolling interests related to certain affiliates.  As of December 
31, 2019, affiliate redeemable noncontrolling interests, excluding amounts related to management equity plans, aggregated 
$524,889.  In addition, as of December 31, 2019, the estimated redemption fair value for units under affiliate management 
equity plans (redeemable and nonredeemable) aggregated $82,495. 

See Notes 10 and 13 for additional information regarding affiliate management equity plans and noncontrolling interests, 
respectively.  
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Contingent Consideration
As further discussed in Note 4, on April 10, 2019, Clarion Partners acquired a majority interest in Gramercy.  The transaction 
included a potential contingent consideration payment of up to $3,721 (using the foreign exchange rate as of December 31, 
2019, for the €3,315 potential payment), due on the fifth anniversary of closing upon the achievement of certain financial 
metrics.  As of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2019, contingent consideration liabilities totaling $3,376 and $1,415, 
respectively, were included in Other non-current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

10. Stock-Based Compensation 

Legg Mason's stock-based compensation includes restricted stock units, stock options, an employee stock purchase plan, 
market and performance-based performance shares payable in common stock, affiliate management equity plans and deferred 
compensation payable in stock.  Shares available for issuance under the equity incentive stock plan as of December 31, 
2019, were 6,292.  Options under Legg Mason’s equity incentive stock plans have been granted at prices not less than 100%
of the fair market value on the date of grant.  Options are generally exercisable in equal increments over four years and 
expire within eight years to 10 years from the date of grant.

The components of Legg Mason's total stock-based compensation expense were as follows:

Three Months Ended December 31, Nine Months Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2019 2018

Restricted stock and restricted stock units $ 12,025 $ 11,668 $ 43,507 $ 38,707
Stock options 728 1,057 2,643 3,513
Employee stock purchase plan 77 96 415 480
Non-employee director awards — — 1,000 1,025
Affiliate management equity plans 23 719 1,670 2,213
Performance share units 2,564 1,202 8,688 4,014
Employee stock trust 9 8 26 23
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 15,426 $ 14,750 $ 57,949 $ 49,975

Restricted Stock
Restricted stock and restricted stock unit transactions are summarized below:

Nine Months Ended December 31,
2019 2018

 
Number of

Shares

Weighted-
Average Grant

Date Value
Number of

Shares

Weighted-
Average Grant

Date Value
Unvested shares at March 31 3,045 $ 37.76 3,299 $ 38.09
Granted 1,205 35.50 1,179 39.05
Vested (1,288) 38.70 (1,286) 39.73
Canceled/forfeited (59) 36.88 (108) 37.62
Unvested shares at December 31 2,903 $ 36.43 3,084 $ 37.80

Unamortized compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock awards at December 31, 2019, of $63,186 is expected 
to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years.
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Stock Options
Stock option transactions under Legg Mason's equity incentive plans are summarized below:

Nine Months Ended December 31,
2019 2018

 
Number
of Shares

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Per

Share
Number
of Shares

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Per

Share
Options outstanding at March 31 4,115 $ 39.05 4,437 $ 38.78
Exercised (369) 31.55 (189) 31.62
Canceled/forfeited (80) 46.18 (95) 43.92
Options outstanding at December 31 3,666 $ 39.65 4,153 $ 38.99

At December 31, 2019, options were exercisable for 3,262 shares, with a weighted-average exercise price of $40.23 and a 
weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.0 years. Unamortized compensation cost related to unvested options for 
404 shares at December 31, 2019, was $920, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.9 
years. 

Affiliate Management Equity Plans 
In connection with the acquisition of Clarion Partners in April 2016, Legg Mason implemented a management equity plan 
for Clarion Partners that entitles certain of its key employees to participate in 15% of the future growth, if any, of the Clarion 
Partners enterprise value (subject to appropriate discounts) subsequent to the date of the grant. As of December 31, 2019, 
the estimated aggregate redemption fair value of units under the plan, as if they were currently redeemable, was $12,100.
 
Effective March 1, 2016, Legg Mason implemented a management equity plan for Royce Investment Partners ("Royce") 
key employees. Under the management equity plan, minority equity interests equivalent to a 24.5% interest in the Royce 
entity have been issued to certain key employees. Equity holders receive quarterly distributions of a portion of Royce's pre-
tax income in amounts equal to the percentage of ownership represented by the equity they hold, subject to payment of Legg 
Mason's revenue share and reasonable expenses.  As of December 31, 2019, the estimated aggregate redemption fair value 
of units under the plan, as if they were currently redeemable, was $10,800.

On March 31, 2014, Legg Mason implemented a management equity plan and granted units to key employees of its subsidiary 
ClearBridge Investments, LLC ("ClearBridge") that entitle them to participate in 15% of the future growth, if any, of the 
ClearBridge enterprise value (subject to appropriate discounts) subsequent to the grant date. Independent valuation 
determined the aggregate cost of the award to be approximately $16,000, which was recognized as Compensation and benefits 
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) over the related vesting periods through March 2019.  Total 
compensation expense related to the ClearBridge affiliate management equity plan was $23 and $719 for the three months 
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and $1,670 and $2,213 for the nine months ended December 31, 2019 
and 2018, respectively.  The compensation expense for the nine months ended December 31, 2019, includes $1,600 related 
to the modification of the plan settlement features, which resulted in an increase in the fair value of the awards.  This 
arrangement provides for one-half of the cost to be absorbed by the ClearBridge incentive pool. As of December 31, 2019, 
the estimated aggregate redemption fair value of vested units under the ClearBridge plan, as if they were currently redeemable, 
was approximately $59,595.

Other
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, non-employee directors held 34 and 98 restricted stock units, respectively, which vest 
on the grant date and are, therefore, not included in the unvested shares of restricted stock units in the table above. 

Upon the acquisition of Clarion Partners in April 2016, Legg Mason granted certain key employees of Clarion Partners a 
total of 716  performance-based Legg Mason restricted share units, which are not included in the unvested shares of restricted 
stock units in the table above, with an aggregate fair value of $11,121, which was included in the purchase price.  These 
restricted share units vest upon Clarion Partners achieving a certain level of EBITDA, as defined in the purchase agreement, 
within a designated period after the closing of the acquisition.  

In May 2019 and 2018, Legg Mason granted certain executive officers a total of 168 and 163 performance share units, 
respectively, as part of their fiscal 2019 and 2018 incentive awards with an aggregate value of $6,334 and $5,820, respectively.  
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The vesting of performance share units granted in May 2019 and 2018 and the number of shares payable at vesting are 
determined based on Legg Mason’s relative total stockholder return and relative organic growth rate of long-term AUM over  
three-year periods ending March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.  The recorded grant date fair values per performance share 
unit of $37.63 and $35.67, respectively, were estimated based on multiple fair value Monte Carlo pricing models. Expense 
associated with these grants are adjusted for the level of relative organic growth expected to be ultimately achieved. The 
estimated fair values for the May 2019 grant range from $21.63 to $45.63 per performance share unit and for the May 2018 
grant range from $18.08 to $44.46 per performance share unit. The following assumptions were used in the Monte Carlo 
pricing models for the May 2019 and 2018 grants:

May 2019 May 2018
Expected dividend yield 4.41% 3.49%
Risk-free interest rate 2.11% 2.71%
Average expected volatility 23.96% 26.14%

11. Revenue 

The following table presents Total Operating Revenues disaggregated by asset class:

Three Months Ended December 31, Nine Months Ended December 31
2019 2018 2019 2018

Equity $ 293,130 $ 296,738 $ 875,965 $ 931,350
Fixed Income 299,121 275,559 873,687 855,343
Alternative 139,061 110,390 384,068 361,239
Liquidity 22,602 21,635 68,818 62,722
Total Operating Revenues $ 753,914 $ 704,322 $ 2,202,538 $ 2,210,654

Revenues by geographic location are primarily based on the location of the advisor or domicile of fund families managed 
by Legg Mason and do not necessarily reflect where the customer resides or the currency in which the revenues are 
denominated.  The following table presents Total Operating Revenues disaggregated by geographic location:

Three Months Ended December 31, Nine Months Ended December 31,
2019 2018 2019 2018

United States $ 583,080 $ 547,696 $ 1,730,546 $ 1,711,426
United Kingdom 56,264 35,142 121,303 111,739
Other International 114,570 121,484 350,689 387,489
Total Operating Revenues $ 753,914 $ 704,322 $ 2,202,538 $ 2,210,654

Certain sales commissions paid in connection with obtaining assets managed in retail separately managed accounts are 
capitalized as deferred costs.  As of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2019, capitalized sales commissions of $8,565 and 
$8,126, respectively, were included in Other current assets and $10,234 and $10,147, respectively, were included in Other 
non-current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  Amortization related to capitalized sales commissions included in 
Compensation and benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) was $2,417 and $2,305 for the three months 
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and $7,050 and $6,964 for the nine months ended December 31, 2019 
and 2018, respectively.  There were no impairment losses in relation to the capitalized costs during the three or nine months 
ended December 31, 2019 or 2018.
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12. Earnings Per Share 

The following table presents the computations of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. 
shareholders ("EPS"):

Three Months Ended December 31, Nine Months Ended December 31,
  2019 2018 2019 2018
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding

for EPS 86,878 85,537 86,666 85,381
Potential common shares:

Dilutive employee stock options 287 — 266 —
Diluted weighted-average shares

outstanding for EPS 87,165 85,537 86,932 85,381

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Legg
Mason, Inc. $ 74,775 $ (216,888) $ 187,208 $ (77,995)

Less: Earnings (distributed and
undistributed) allocated to
participating securities 2,428 1,049 6,138 3,190

Net Income (Loss) (Distributed and
Undistributed) Allocated to
Shareholders (Excluding Participating
Securities) $ 72,347 $ (217,937) $ 181,070 $ (81,185)

Net Income (Loss) per share Attributable
to Legg Mason, Inc. Shareholders
Basic $ 0.83 $ (2.55) $ 2.09 $ (0.95)
Diluted 0.83 (2.55) 2.08 (0.95)

The weighted-average shares exclude weighted-average unvested restricted shares deemed to be participating securities of 
2,935 and 3,104 for the three months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and 2,919 and 3,104 for the nine 
months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Options to purchase 1,860 and 1,995 shares for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2019, respectively, were not 
included in the computation of diluted EPS because the presumed proceeds from exercising such options, including the 
related unamortized expense, exceed the average price of the common shares for the period and, therefore, the options are 
deemed antidilutive. 

The diluted EPS calculation for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2018, excludes 56 and 143 potential common 
shares from employee stock options, respectively, that are anti-dilutive due to the net loss in each period.

Further, market- and performance-based awards, such as those issued to Legg Mason executive officers or those issued in 
the acquisition of Clarion Partners, are excluded from potential dilution until the designated market or performance condition 
is met. 
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13. Noncontrolling Interests 

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests included the following amounts:

Three Months Ended December 31, Nine Months Ended December 31,
  2019 2018 2019 2018
Net income attributable to redeemable

noncontrolling interests $ 14,266 $ 8,852 $ 36,595 $ 24,460
Net income attributable to nonredeemable

noncontrolling interests 1,962 1,646 5,300 6,583
Total $ 16,228 $ 10,498 $ 41,895 $ 31,043

The following tables present the changes in redeemable and nonredeemable noncontrolling interests:

Redeemable noncontrolling interests

Consolidated 
investment 
vehicles(1) 
and other

Affiliate

Noncontrolling
interests

Management
equity plans Total

Nonredeemable 
noncontrolling 

interests(3)

Balance as of March 31, 2019 $ 103,630 $ 540,595 $ 48,151 $ 692,376 $ 29,784
Net income attributable to

noncontrolling interests 9,006 27,589 — 36,595 5,300
Business acquisition 11,715 — 11,715 —
Net subscriptions (redemptions) (31,307) — — (31,307) —
Purchase of affiliate noncontrolling

interest:
Payment (fair value portion) — (8,789) — (8,789) —
Change in redemption value — (25,708) — (25,708) —

Distributions — (22,775) — (22,775) (4,519)
Foreign exchange — (833) — (833) —
Vesting/change in estimated

redemption value — 3,095 13,984 17,079 —
Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ 81,329 $ 524,889 $ 62,135 $ 668,353 $ 30,565
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Redeemable noncontrolling interests

Consolidated 
investment 
vehicles(1) 
and other

Affiliate

Noncontrolling
interests

Management
equity plans Total

Nonredeemable 
noncontrolling 

interests(2)

Balance as of March 31, 2018 $ 125,047 $ 573,950 $ 33,298 $ 732,295 $ 27,731
Net income attributable to

noncontrolling interests 1,036 23,424 — 24,460 6,583
Net subscriptions (redemptions) (36,328) — — (36,328) —
Settlement of affiliate noncontrolling

interest put:
Payment — (15,547) — (15,547) —
Change in redemption value — (12,345) — (12,345) —

Distributions — (25,538) — (25,538) (6,820)
Foreign exchange — (5,009) — (5,009) —
Vesting/change in estimated

redemption value — 1,037 13,925 14,962 —
Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 89,755 $ 539,972 $ 47,223 $ 676,950 $ 27,494

(1)  Related to variable interest entities ("VIEs") and seeded investment products.
(2)  Related to Royce management equity plan.

The following tables present the changes in redeemable noncontrolling interests by affiliate (exclusive of management 
equity plans):

Redeemable noncontrolling interests
EnTrust
Global

Clarion
Partners

RARE
Infrastructure Other Total

Balance as of March 31, 2019 $ 380,684 $ 123,502 $ 35,181 $ 1,228 $ 540,595
Net income (loss) attributable to

noncontrolling interests 12,694 14,904 106 (115) 27,589
Business acquisition — — — 11,715 11,715
Purchase of affiliate noncontrolling

interest:
Payment (fair value portion) — — (8,789) — (8,789)
Change in redemption value — — (25,708) — (25,708)

Distributions (9,892) (12,880) — (3) (22,775)
Foreign exchange — — (790) (43) (833)
Change in estimated redemption value — 3,095 — — 3,095
Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ 383,486 $ 128,621 $ — $ 12,782 $ 524,889
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Redeemable noncontrolling interests
EnTrust
Global

Clarion
Partners

RARE
Infrastructure Other Total

Balance as of March 31, 2018 $ 386,884 $ 117,272 $ 68,285 $ 1,509 $ 573,950
Net income (loss) attributable to

noncontrolling interests 9,752 12,460 1,417 (205) 23,424
Distributions (13,475) (10,359) (1,693) (11) (25,538)
Settlement of affiliate noncontrolling

interest put:
Payment — — (15,547) (15,547)
Change in redemption value — — (12,345) (12,345)

Foreign exchange — — (5,009) — (5,009)
Change in estimated redemption value — 1,037 — — 1,037
Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 383,161 $ 120,410 $ 35,108 $ 1,293 $ 539,972

Redeemable noncontrolling interests of 35% of the outstanding equity of EnTrust Global and 18% of the outstanding equity 
of Clarion Partners can be put by the holders or called by Legg Mason for settlement at fair value subject to various conditions, 
including the passage of time.  The amounts for noncontrolling interests, if reported at fair value in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets, reflect the total business enterprise value of the combined entity, after appropriate discounts for lack of marketability 
and control.

On May 10, 2019, Legg Mason purchased the 15% equity interest in RARE Infrastructure held by the firm's management 
team for total consideration of $21,988.  The initial cash payment of $11,967, which included related dividends in arrears 
of $1,759, was paid on May 10, 2019.  The remaining balance will be due 50% one year after closing and 50% two years 
after closing, subject to certain conditions.  The $11,440 difference between the fair value of the noncontrolling interest on 
the settlement date and the total consideration due (excluding dividends in arrears) was recorded as Compensation and 
benefits in the three months ended June 30, 2019.  The $25,708 difference between the fair value and the carrying value of 
the noncontrolling interest of $34,497 on the settlement date was recorded as an increase to additional paid in capital. This 
purchase was part of Legg Mason's strategic restructuring, as further discussed in Note 15, to pursue operational efficiencies 
between RARE Infrastructure and ClearBridge intended to reduce costs and enhance growth opportunities for both of the 
businesses.

On July 2, 2018, the corporate minority owner of RARE Infrastructure exercised the put option for its 10% ownership 
interest.  The settlement value of $15,547 was based on the midpoint of the valuations determined by the independent 
valuation experts appointed by Legg Mason and the corporate minority owner and was paid on October 10, 2018, along 
with $981 of dividends in arrears.  The $12,345 difference between the settlement value and the carrying value of the 
noncontrolling interest of $27,892 on the settlement date was recorded as an increase to additional paid in capital. 
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14. Derivatives and Hedging 

Legg Mason uses currency forwards to economically hedge the risk of movements in exchange rates, primarily between the 
U.S. dollar, British pound, Australian dollar, Singapore dollar, Japanese yen, and euro.  All derivative transactions for which 
Legg Mason has certain legally enforceable rights of setoff are governed by International Swaps and Derivative Association 
("ISDA") Master Agreements.  For these derivative transactions, Legg Mason has one ISDA Master Agreement with each 
of the significant counterparties, which covers transactions with that counterparty.  Each of the respective ISDA agreements 
provides for legally enforceable settlement netting and close-out netting between Legg Mason and that counterparty.  Other 
assets recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2019, were $3,074 and $4,183, 
respectively.  Other liabilities recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2019, 
were $1,362 and $7,579, respectively.

Legg Mason also uses market hedges on certain seed capital investments by entering into futures contracts to sell index 
funds and treasuries that benchmark the hedged seed capital investments and has entered into total return swap arrangements 
with respect to certain Legg Mason sponsored ETFs, as further discussed below.

Legg Mason has not designated any derivatives as hedging instruments for accounting purposes during the periods ended 
December 31, 2019, March 31, 2019, or December 31, 2018.  As of December 31, 2019, Legg Mason had open currency 
forward contracts with aggregate notional amounts totaling $323,654, and open futures contracts relating to seed capital 
investments with aggregate notional amounts totaling $95,910.  As of December 31, 2019, the weighted-average remaining 
contract terms for currency forward contracts was seven months and for futures contracts relating to seed capital investments 
was three months.

Legg Mason has entered into various total return swap arrangements with financial intermediaries with respect to certain 
Legg Mason sponsored ETFs, which resulted in investments by each of the financial intermediaries in the respective ETF.  
Under the terms of each of the total return swap arrangements, Legg Mason receives the related investment gains and losses 
on the underlying shares of the ETF and pays a floating rate on the value of the underlying shares.  Each of the total return 
swap arrangements allows either party to terminate all or part of the arrangement and provides for automatic termination 
upon occurrence of certain events.  Each financial intermediary counterparty may hedge its total return swap position through 
an investment in the ETF and the financial intermediaries purchased interests in the related Legg Mason ETF on the date 
of the transactions.  The aggregate notional amount for the two total return swaps outstanding as of December 31, 2019 was 
$34,907, with a weighted-average remaining contract term of five months.  The floating rate paid on the value of the underlying 
securities for all total return swap arrangements outstanding as of December 31, 2019 was three-month LIBOR plus 1.6%.

In connection with the total return swap arrangements, Legg Mason executed futures contracts with notional amounts totaling 
$7,916 as of December 31, 2019 to partially hedge the gains and losses recognized on the total return swaps.  These contracts 
had a weighted-average remaining contract term of three months.

The amounts above are representative of the level of non-hedge designation derivative activity throughout the three and 
nine months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.  

As further discussed in Note 16, the total return swap arrangements create variable interests in the underlying funds for Legg 
Mason, and, if significant, Legg Mason is deemed to be the primary beneficiary.  Accordingly, Legg Mason may consolidate 
ETF products with significant open total return swap arrangements.
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The following table presents the derivative assets and related offsets, if any:

Gross Amounts Not Offset
in the Balance Sheet

Gross
Amounts of
Recognized

Assets

 Gross
Amounts

Offset in the
Balance
Sheet

Net Amount
of Derivative

Assets
Presented in
the Balance

Sheet
Financial

Instruments
Cash

Collateral

Net Amount
as of

December 31,
2019

Derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments
Currency forward

contracts $ 4,092 $ (1,310) $ 2,782 $ — $ — $ 2,782
Total return swaps — — — 292 961 1,253

Total derivative
instruments not
designated as
hedging instruments $ 4,092 $ (1,310) $ 2,782 $ 292 $ 961 $ 4,035

The following table presents the derivative liabilities and related offsets, if any:

Gross Amounts Not Offset
in the Balance Sheet

Gross
Amounts of
Recognized
Liabilities

 Gross
Amounts

Offset in the
Balance
Sheet

Net Amount
of Derivative

Liabilities
Presented in
the Balance

Sheet
Financial

Instruments
Cash

Collateral

Net Amount 
as of 

December 31, 
2019

Derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments
Currency forward

contracts $ (1,426) $ 986 $ (440) $ — $ — $ (440)
Futures contracts relating to:

Seed capital
investments — — — (801) 4,809 4,008

Total return swaps — — — (49) 366 317
     Total future contracts — — — (850) 5,175 4,325

Total return swaps (72) 890 818
Total derivative

instruments not
designated as
hedging instruments $ (1,426) $ 986 $ (440) $ (922) $ 6,065 $ 4,703
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The following table presents the derivative assets and related offsets, if any:

Gross Amounts Not Offset
in the Balance Sheet

Gross
Amounts of
Recognized

Assets

 Gross
Amounts
Offset in

the Balance
Sheet

Net Amount
of Derivative

Assets
Presented in
the Balance

Sheet
Financial

Instruments
Cash

Collateral

Net amount
 as of 

March 31, 
2019

Derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments
Currency forward

contracts $ 3,997 $ (1,874) $ 2,123 $ — $ — $ 2,123
Total return swaps — — — 2,060 2,310 4,370

Total derivative
instruments not
designated as
hedging instruments $ 3,997 $ (1,874) $ 2,123 $ 2,060 $ 2,310 $ 6,493

The following table presents the derivative liabilities and related offsets, if any:

Gross Amounts Not Offset
in the Balance Sheet

Gross
Amounts of
Recognized
Liabilities

 Gross
Amounts
Offset in

the Balance
Sheet

Net Amount
of Derivative

Liabilities
Presented in
the Balance

Sheet
Financial

Instruments
Cash

Collateral

Net amount 
as of 

March 31, 
2019

Derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments
Currency forward

contracts $ (7,465) $ 2,094 $ (5,371) $ — $ — $ (5,371)
Futures contracts relating

to:
Seed capital investments — — — (1,798) 7,640 5,842
Total return swaps — — — (410) 1,104 694

Total futures contracts — — — (2,208) 8,744 6,536
Total derivative instruments

not designated as
hedging instruments $ (7,465) $ 2,094 $ (5,371) $ (2,208) $ 8,744 $ 1,165



Table of Contents

32

The following table presents gains (losses) recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) on derivative 
instruments.  As described above, the currency forward contracts and futures and forward contracts for seed capital 
investments included below are economic hedges of interest rate and market risk of certain operating and investing activities 
of Legg Mason.

Three Months Ended December 31,
2019 2018

Income Statement
Classification Gains Losses Gains Losses

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
Currency forward contracts relating to:

Operating activities Other expense $ 10,325 $ (4,293) $ 3,110 $ (5,587)

Seed capital investments
Other non-operating

income (expense) 651 (2,219) 1,503 (1,116)
Futures contracts relating to:

Seed capital investments
Other non-operating

income (expense) — (7,351) 16,520 (1)

Total return swaps
Other non-operating

income (expense) 31 (563) 3,121 (467)

Total return swaps
Other non-operating

income (expense) 384 (73) 203 (832)
Total gain (loss) from derivatives not designated as hedging

instruments $ 11,391 $ (14,499) $ 24,457 $ (8,003)

Nine Months Ended December 31,
2019 2018

Income Statement
Classification Gains Losses Gains Losses

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
Currency forward contracts relating to:

Operating activities Other expense $ 7,813 $ (8,257) $ 9,369 $ (19,366)

Seed capital investments
Other non-operating

income (expense) 2,356 (1,233) 5,523 (788)
Futures contracts relating to:

Seed capital investments
Other non-operating

income (expense) 398 (11,223) 19,224 (7,066)

Total return swaps
Other non-operating

income (expense) 84 (1,441) 3,425 (3,418)

Total return swaps
Other non-operating

income (expense) 1,885 — 1,869 (938)
Total gain (loss) from derivatives not designated as hedging

instruments $ 12,536 $ (22,154) $ 39,410 $ (31,576)



Table of Contents

33

15. Strategic Restructuring

In fiscal 2019, Legg Mason initiated a strategic restructuring to reduce costs, which includes corporate and distribution 
functions, as well as efficiency initiatives at certain smaller affiliates that operate outside of revenue-sharing arrangements.  
The strategic restructuring is expected to be substantially complete by the end of fiscal 2021.

This plan involves restructuring costs beginning January 1, 2019, which are primarily comprised of employee termination 
benefits and retention incentives expensed over identified transition periods.  The restructuring costs also include charges 
for consolidating leased office space and other costs, including professional fees.  Legg Mason expects to incur total strategic 
restructuring costs in the range of $125,000 to $135,000 through March 2021 that are expected to result in future cost savings.  
Cumulative strategic restructuring costs incurred through December 31, 2019 were $76,649, including $18,474 and $67,297
incurred during the three and nine months ended December 31, 2019.

The table below presents a summary of changes in the strategic restructuring liability from January 1, 2019 through December 
31, 2019, and cumulative charges incurred to date: 

Compensation
and benefits Occupancy Other Total

Balance as of January 1, 2019 $ — $ — $ — $ —
Accrued charges — 2,090 6,504 8,594
Balance as of March 31, 2019 — 2,090 6,504 8,594
Accrued charges 40,860 4,427 8,059 53,346
Payments (7,992) (289) (9,886) (18,167)
Balance as of December 31, 2019 $ 32,868 $ 6,228 $ 4,677 $ 43,773

Non-cash charges(1)

Three months ended March 31, 2019 $ — $ 758 $ — $ 758
Nine months ended December 31, 2019 12,448 1,503 — 13,951

Total $ 12,448 $ 2,261 $ — $ 14,709
Cumulative charges incurred through December 31,

2019 $ 53,308 $ 8,778 $ 14,563 $ 76,649
(1)  Includes stock-based compensation expense and accelerated fixed asset depreciation.

The estimates for the remaining strategic restructuring costs expected to be incurred through fiscal 2021 are as follows:

Minimum Maximum
Compensation and benefits $ 12,000 $ 17,000
Occupancy 16,000 18,000
Other costs 20,000 23,000
Total $ 48,000 $ 58,000

While management expects the total estimated costs to be within the range disclosed, the ultimate nature and timing of the 
costs may differ from those presented above.
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16. Variable Interest Entities and Consolidated Investment Vehicles

In accordance with financial accounting standards, Legg Mason consolidates certain sponsored investment products, some 
of which are designated as CIVs.  As presented in the table below, Legg Mason concluded it was the primary beneficiary 
of certain VIEs because it held significant financial interests in the funds.  In addition, Legg Mason has entered into various 
total return swap arrangements with financial intermediaries with respect to certain Legg Mason sponsored ETFs.  Under 
the terms of the total return swaps, Legg Mason absorbs all of the related gains and losses on the underlying ETF investments 
of these financial intermediaries, and therefore has variable interests in ETFs with open total return swap arrangements and, 
if significant, Legg Mason is deemed to be the primary beneficiary of such ETFs.  Because it was determined to be the 
primary beneficiary of these VIEs, Legg Mason consolidated and designated the following funds as CIVs in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets as of:

December 31, 2019 March 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Number of
Consolidated

Funds

Legg Mason 
Investment 
in Funds(1)

Number of
Consolidated

Funds

Legg 
Mason 

Investment 
in Funds(1)

Number of
Consolidated

Funds

Legg 
Mason 

Investment 
in Funds(1)

Sponsored investment
partnerships 2 $ 9,419 2 $ 11,671 2 $ 12,863

Trust structure foreign
mutual funds 6 21,669 7 23,005 8 49,251

Employee trust structure
funds 1 4,564 2 6,215 2 6,963

ETFs(2) 2 2,764 3 2,821 2 2,487
Total 11 $ 38,416 14 $ 43,712 14 $ 71,564
(1)  Represents Legg Mason's maximum risk of loss, excluding uncollected advisory fees.
(2) Under the total return swap arrangements, Legg Mason receives the related investment gains and losses on investments in two of Legg Mason's ETFs 

with notional amounts totaling $34,907 as of December 31, 2019.  See Note 14 for additional information regarding total return swaps.

The assets of these CIVs are primarily comprised of investment securities and as of March 31, 2019, the liabilities of these 
CIVs were primarily comprised of payables for purchased securities.  Investors and creditors of these CIVs have no recourse 
to the general credit or assets of Legg Mason beyond its investment in these funds.

Legg Mason also consolidates certain voting rights entities ("VRE") products with seed capital investments where Legg 
Mason maintains a controlling financial interest in the product.  As of December 31, 2019, March 31, 2019 and December 
31, 2018, Legg Mason consolidated four, five, and seven VRE products with seed capital investments totaling $39,130, 
$24,924, and $29,355, respectively. 
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The following tables reflect the impact of CIVs and other consolidated sponsored investment products in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets and the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss):

Consolidating Balance Sheets

  December 31, 2019 March 31, 2019

 

Balance 
Before 

Consolidation 
of CIVs and 

Other(1)
CIVs and 
Other(1)

Reclassifications
& Eliminations

Consolidated
Totals

Balance 
Before 

Consolidation 
of CIVs and 

Other(1)
CIVs and 
Other(1)

Reclassifications
& Eliminations

Consolidated
Totals

Current Assets $ 1,896,010 $117,167 $ (37,245) $ 1,975,932 $ 1,916,485 $ 144,091 $ (40,720) $ 2,019,856
Non-current

assets 6,061,015 3,942 (1,171) 6,063,786 5,768,265 8,993 (2,992) 5,774,266
Total Assets $ 7,957,025 $121,109 $ (38,416) $ 8,039,718 $ 7,684,750 $ 153,084 $ (43,712) $ 7,794,122
Current

Liabilities $ 929,495 $ 1,364 $ — $ 930,859 $ 1,104,002 $ 5,742 $ — $ 1,109,744
Non-current

liabilities 2,605,229 — — 2,605,229 2,302,463 — — 2,302,463

Total Liabilities 3,534,724 1,364 — 3,536,088 3,406,465 5,742 — 3,412,207
Redeemable

Non-
controlling
interests 587,024 — 81,329 668,353 588,746 — 103,630 692,376

Total
Stockholders’
Equity 3,835,277 119,745 (119,745) 3,835,277 3,689,539 147,342 (147,342) 3,689,539

Total Liabilities
and Equity $ 7,957,025 $121,109 $ (38,416) $ 8,039,718 $ 7,684,750 $ 153,084 $ (43,712) $ 7,794,122

(1) Other represents consolidated sponsored investment product VREs that are not designated as CIVs.
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Consolidating Statements of Income (Loss) $

Three Months Ended

  December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

 

Balance 
Before

Consolidation 
of CIVs and 

Other(1)

CIVs 
and 

Other(1) Eliminations
Consolidated

Totals

Balance 
Before

Consolidation 
of CIVs and 

Other(1)

CIVs 
and 

Other(1) Eliminations
Consolidated

Totals
Total Operating

Revenues $ 753,983 $ — $ (69) $ 753,914 $ 704,477 $ — $ (155) $ 704,322
Total Operating

Expenses 623,817 166 (63) 623,920 940,561 308 (120) 940,749
Operating Income

(Loss) 130,166 (166) (6) 129,994 (236,084) (308) (35) (236,427)
Total Non-Operating

Income (Expense) (7,300) 569 1,404 (5,327) (32,158) 2,612 (771) (30,317)
Income (Loss)

Before Income
Tax Provision
(Benefit) 122,866 403 1,398 124,667 (268,242) 2,304 (806) (266,744)

Income tax
provision
(benefit) 33,664 — — 33,664 (60,354) — — (60,354)

Net Income (Loss) 89,202 403 1,398 91,003 (207,888) 2,304 (806) (206,390)
Less:  Net income

(loss) attributable
to noncontrolling
interests 14,427 (245) 2,046 16,228 9,000 242 1,256 10,498

Net Income (Loss)
Attributable to
Legg Mason, Inc. $ 74,775 $ 648 $ (648) $ 74,775 $ (216,888) $ 2,062 $ (2,062) $ (216,888)

(1)  Other represents consolidated sponsored investment products (VREs) that are not designated as CIVs.

Nine Months Ended
  December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

 

Balance 
Before

Consolidation 
of CIVs and 

Other(1)

CIVs 
and 

Other(1) Eliminations
Consolidated

Totals

Balance 
Before

Consolidation 
of CIVs and 

Other(1)

CIVs 
and 

Other(1) Eliminations
Consolidated

Totals
Total Operating

Revenues $ 2,202,888 $ — $ (350) $ 2,202,538 $ 2,211,115 $ — $ (461) $ 2,210,654
Total Operating

Expenses 1,862,253 1,292 87 1,863,632 2,184,807 1,386 (516) 2,185,677
Operating Income

(Loss) 340,635 (1,292) (437) 338,906 26,308 (1,386) 55 24,977
Total Non-Operating

Income (Expense) (40,072) 15,625 (4,890) (29,337) (74,131) 2,070 297 (71,764)
Income (Loss)

Before Income
Tax Provision 300,563 14,333 (5,327) 309,569 (47,823) 684 352 (46,787)

Income tax
provision 80,466 — — 80,466 165 — — 165

Net Income (Loss) 220,097 14,333 (5,327) 229,103 (47,988) 684 352 (46,952)
Less:  Net income

(loss) attributable
to noncontrolling
interests 32,889 721 8,285 41,895 30,007 115 921 31,043

Net Income (Loss)
Attributable to
Legg Mason, Inc. $ 187,208 $ 13,612 $ (13,612) $ 187,208 $ (77,995) $ 569 $ (569) $ (77,995)

Non-Operating Income (Expense) of CIVs and Other includes interest income, interest expense, and net gains (losses) on 
investments.
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The consolidation of CIVs has no impact on Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc.

As of December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2019, financial assets of CIVs carried at fair value totaling $78,957 and $70,197, 
respectively, were valued using Level 1 inputs, $25,536 and $55,182, respectively, were valued using Level 2 inputs, and 
$3,619 and $12,547, respectively, were valued using NAV as a practical expedient.  As of March 31, 2019, financial liabilities 
of CIVs carried at fair value of $4,217 were valued using Level 2 inputs.   

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 assets or liabilities during the three and nine months ended December 
31, 2019 and 2018.

The NAVs used as a practical expedient by CIVs have been provided by the investees and have been derived from the fair 
values of the underlying investments as of the respective reporting dates.  The following table summarizes the nature of 
these investments and any related liquidation restrictions or other factors, which may impact the ultimate value realized:

Fair Value Determined Using NAV As of December 31, 2019
Category of
Investment Investment Strategy

December 31, 
2019 March 31, 2019  

Unfunded
Commitments

Remaining
Term

Hedge funds

Global macro, fixed
income, long/short
equity, systematic,
emerging market, U.S.
and European hedge $ 3,619 (1) $ 12,547 n/a n/a

n/a - not applicable
(1) Redemption restrictions:  22% monthly redemption; 77% quarterly redemption; and 1% are subject to three to five-year lock-up or side pocket 

provisions.

Legg Mason's carrying value and maximum risk of loss for VIEs in which Legg Mason holds a variable interest, but for 
which it was not the primary beneficiary, were as follows:

  As of December 31, 2019 As of March 31, 2019
Equity Interests 

on the 
Consolidated 

Balance Sheet (1)
Maximum Risk 

of Loss (2)

Equity Interests 
on the 

Consolidated 
Balance Sheet (1)

Maximum 
Risk of Loss (2)

Real Estate Investment Trusts $ 12,312 $ 14,052 $ 10,812 $ 15,241
Other investment funds 31,090 49,646 25,155 45,897
Total $ 43,402 $ 63,698 $ 35,967 $ 61,138

(1) Amounts are related to investments in proprietary and other fund products.
(2) Includes equity investments the Company has made or is required to make and any earned but uncollected management fees.

The Company's total AUM of unconsolidated VIEs was $29,677,965 and $29,025,764 as of December 31, 2019 and March 
31, 2019, respectively.

The assets of these VIEs are primarily comprised of cash and cash equivalents and investment securities, and the liabilities 
are primarily comprised of various expense accruals.  These VIEs were not consolidated because Legg Mason does not have 
both the power to direct significant economic activities of the entity and rights/obligations associated with benefits/losses 
that could be significant to the entity.
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Item 2.  Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-looking Statements
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that involve substantial risks or uncertainties. Forward-looking statements are typically 
identified by words or phrases such as “achieve,” “anticipate,” “assume,” “believe,” “continue,” “current,” “estimate,” 
“expect,” “intention,” “maintain,” “opportunity,” “position,” “potential,” “projection,” “remain,” “seek,” “sustain,” “trend” 
and similar expressions, or future or conditional verbs such as “could,” “may,” “should,” "will," "would" and similar 
expressions. Forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and beliefs, and involve known and unknown 
risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may cause our actual results, performance and achievements and the timing 
of certain events to differ materially from the results, performance, achievements or timing discussed, projected, anticipated 
or indicated in any forward-looking statement. Such risks, uncertainties and other factors include, among others, information 
or anticipated information relating to: our expectations regarding financial market conditions, including interest rate 
volatility, future investment performance of our affiliates, and future net client cash flows; the performance of our business, 
including revenues, net income, earnings per share, dividends, investments, capital expenditures, and other conditions; our 
expense levels; changes in our business or in the amount or composition of our client assets under management ("AUM"); 
the expected effects of acquisitions and other transactions and their effect on our business; changes in tax regulations and 
rates, including the effect on our estimated effective income tax rate; the expected costs and benefits of our ongoing strategic 
restructuring; and other regulatory or legislative changes.

Actual results may differ materially from those expressed in forward-looking information as a result of various factors, 
some of which are beyond our control, including, but not limited to, the foregoing factors as well as those discussed under 
the heading "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2019.  Due to such risks, 
uncertainties and other factors, we caution each person receiving such forward-looking information not to place undue 
reliance on such statements. Further, forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which such statements are 
made, and we undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances 
after the date of any such statement or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

Executive Overview
Legg Mason, Inc. is a global asset management firm that operates through nine independent asset management subsidiaries 
(collectively with its subsidiaries, “Legg Mason”). We help investors globally to achieve better financial outcomes by 
expanding choice across investment strategies, vehicles and investor access through independent asset managers with diverse 
expertise in equity, fixed income, alternative and liquidity investments.  Acting through our independent investment 
managers, which we often refer to as our affiliates, we deliver our investment capabilities through varied products and 
vehicles and via multiple points of access, including directly and through various financial intermediaries.  Our investment 
advisory services include discretionary and non-discretionary management of separate investment accounts in numerous 
investment styles for institutional and individual investors.  Our investment products include proprietary mutual funds 
ranging from money market and other liquidity products to fixed income, equity and alternative funds managed in a wide 
variety of investment styles.  We also offer other domestic and offshore funds to both retail and institutional investors, 
privately placed real estate funds, hedge funds and funds-of-hedge funds.  Our centralized global distribution group, Legg 
Mason Global Distribution, markets, distributes and supports our investment products.

Our operations are principally in the U.S. and the U.K. and we also have offices in Australia, Brazil, Canada, Chile, China, 
Dubai, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Singapore, Spain, Switzerland and Taiwan. Terms such as "we," "us," "our," 
and "Company" refer to Legg Mason.  

The financial services business in which we are engaged is extremely competitive.  Our competition includes numerous 
global, national, regional and local asset management firms, commercial banks, insurance companies, and other financial 
services companies.  The industry continues to experience disruption and challenges, including a shift to lower-fee passively 
managed products, which contributes to increasing fee pressure, the increased role of technology in asset management 
services, the introduction of new financial products and services by our competitors, and the consolidation of financial 
services firms through mergers and acquisitions.  The asset management industry is also subject to extensive and evolving 
regulation under federal, state, and foreign laws.  Like most firms, we have been and will continue to be impacted by 
regulatory and legislative changes.  Responding to these changes and keeping abreast of regulatory developments has 
required, and will continue to require, us to incur costs that impact our profitability.
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Our revenues and net income are derived primarily from AUM and fees associated with our investment products.  Accordingly, 
changes in global financial markets, the composition and level of AUM, net new business inflows (or outflows) and changes 
in the mix of investment products between asset classes and geographies may materially affect our results of operations.  
Our most significant operating expenses are employee compensation and benefits, a majority of which is variable and 
includes incentive compensation, and distribution and servicing expenses, which consist primarily of fees paid to third-party 
distributors for selling our asset management products and services.  Our profitability is sensitive to a variety of factors, 
including the amount and composition of our AUM, and the volatility and general level of securities prices, interest rates, 
and changes in currency exchange rates, among other things. Periods of unfavorable market conditions are likely to have 
an adverse effect on our profitability.  In addition, the diversification of services, vehicles, and products offered, investment 
performance, access to distribution channels, reputation in the market, attraction and retention of key employees and client 
relations are significant factors in determining whether we are successful in attracting and retaining clients.  In the last few 
years, the industry has seen flows into products for which we do not currently garner significant market share, including, 
in particular, passive products, and corresponding flows out of products in which we do have market share.  For a further 
discussion of factors that may affect our results of operations, refer to the discussion under the heading “Risk Factors” in 
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2019 and in Item 1A. herein.

Our Strategy
Our strategy is to expand client choice through the diversification of our business across investment strategies, vehicles and 
access.  We focus our strategic priorities on the four primary areas listed below.  Management considers these strategic 
priorities when evaluating our operating performance and financial condition.  Consistent with this approach, we have also 
presented in the table below initiatives on which management currently focuses in evaluating our performance and financial 
condition.

Strategic Priorities Initiatives
- Products - Create an innovative portfolio of investment products and promote revenue growth by

developing new products and leveraging the capabilities of our affiliates
- Identify and execute strategic acquisitions to strengthen our affiliates and increase

product offerings

- Performance - Identify and implement opportunities to improve growth through collaboration with and
across affiliates, and work with affiliates to improve efficiency across Legg Mason by
combining efforts, outsourcing or working differently

- Distribution - Continue to maintain and enhance our top tier distribution function with the capability to
offer solutions to relevant investment challenges and grow market share worldwide

- Develop alternative and innovative distribution approaches for expanded client access

- Productivity - Implement our strategic restructuring plan
- Continue to develop and execute upon our diversity and inclusion strategy; develop business 

unit strategies to support the future state of work; drive digital transformation and continue 
to develop the enterprise data management program

When evaluating our progress on these strategic priorities, and considering initiatives to support them, we prioritize four 
key drivers of value creation:

• leveraging our centralized retail distribution to drive growth;
• capitalizing on our investments to provide investors with greater choice;
• more effectively controlling our costs to improve profitability; and
• thoughtfully managing our balance sheet and capital allocation.

The strategic priorities and key drivers discussed above are designed to drive improvements in our net flows, earnings, cash 
flows, AUM and other key metrics, including operating margin, which are discussed in our quarterly results discussion 
below. 
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Strategic Restructuring
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019, we initiated a strategic restructuring to reduce costs, which includes corporate and 
distribution functions, as well as efficiency initiatives at certain smaller affiliates that operate outside of revenue-sharing 
arrangements. We expect to incur aggregate strategic restructuring costs in the range of $125 million to $135 million through 
March 2021. We expect the strategic restructuring will result in future annual cost savings of $100 million or more, achieved 
on an annual run rate basis by the end of fiscal 2021. During the three and nine months ended December 31, 2019, we 
incurred $18.5 million, or $0.15 per diluted share, and $67.3 million, or $0.55 per diluted share, respectively, of costs related 
to the strategic restructuring.  See Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.  We 
achieved $20 million of savings related to the strategic restructuring during the three months ended December 31, 2019, for 
cumulative achieved savings of $49 million since January 1, 2019.

In addition, during the three and nine months ended December 31, 2019, we incurred $2.4 million, or $0.02 per diluted 
share, and $6.2 million, or $0.05 per diluted share, respectively, of restructuring costs for other corporate matters, and during 
the three and nine months ended December 31, 2018, we incurred $5.9 million, or $0.05 per diluted share, and $14.3 million, 
or $0.12 per diluted share, respectively, of costs associated with our previous corporate restructuring plans.  We do not 
attribute or include these other corporate restructuring costs in our strategic restructuring.

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc.
Net Income Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. for the three months ended December 31, 2019, was $74.8 million, or $0.83 
per diluted share, as compared to Net Loss Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. of $216.9 million, or $2.55 per diluted share 
for the three months ended December 31, 2018.  As further discussed below, the increase in Net Income (Loss) Attributable 
to Legg Mason, Inc. was primarily driven by non-cash impairment charges totaling $365.2 million, or $3.17 per diluted 
share, related to intangible assets at EnTrust Global and RARE infrastructure, recognized in the prior year period.  The 
increase was also driven by the impact of higher operating revenues in the current year period, reflecting an increase in 
investment advisory fees from separate accounts and funds and performance fees that were not passed through as 
compensation expense, and the impact of savings from the strategic restructuring.

Average AUM increased 7% for the three months ended December 31, 2019, as compared to the three months ended December 
31, 2018. 

The following discussion and analysis provides additional information regarding our financial condition and results of 
operations.

Business Environment
U.S. equity markets delivered strong results for the three months ended December 31, 2019, driven by optimism about a 
trade deal between the U.S. and China and signs of improvement in the manufacturing sector.  The U.S. Federal Reserves' 
target federal funds rate remained at 2.0% during the quarter, which helped ease uncertainties after three rate changes during 
calendar year 2019. From a sector standpoint, information technology, communication services, and healthcare performed 
strongest during the quarter. Equity markets in the U.S. achieved their strongest performance in years.  Developed 
international equity markets also delivered strong results, as volatility decreased due to signs of global growth stabilization, 
an anticipated resolution to Brexit uncertainty, and optimism regarding a trade deal between the U.S. and China.  Emerging 
equity markets also rallied during the quarter in response to interest rate cuts in several countries and an interim trade deal 
between the U.S. and China.

Global bond markets were mixed during the quarter.  The broad U.S. bond market posted positive returns for the quarter.  
Long-term treasury yields rose throughout the quarter, especially for longer maturities, due to low global interest rates and 
expectations of economic growth in the U.S. Short-term treasuries declined during the quarter. International government 
bond yields also declined during the quarter, compared to higher risk credit categories, in response to easing political tensions 
and positive economic outlook. Many major central banks reduced interest rates during the quarter.  Investment-grade and 
high yield corporate bonds recorded strong returns, driven by momentum in the stock market.
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The following table summarizes the returns for various major market indices:

 
% Change for the Three Months

Ended December 31,
% Change for the Nine Months

Ended December 31,
Indices(1) 2019 2018 2019 2018
Dow Jones Industrial Average(2) 6.0% (11.8)% 10.1% (3.2)%
S&P 500(2) 8.5% (14.0)% 14.0% (5.1)%
Nasdaq Composite Index(2) 12.2% (17.5)% 16.1% (6.1)%
Barclays Capital U.S. Aggregate Bond Index 0.2% 1.6 % 5.6% 1.5 %
Barclays Capital Global Aggregate Bond Index 0.5% 1.2 % 4.5% (2.5)%

(1) Indices are trademarks of Dow Jones & Company, McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., and Barclays Capital, respectively, which 
are not affiliated with Legg Mason.

(2) Excludes the impact of the reinvestment of dividends and stock splits.

In addition to these factors, our industry continues to be impacted by the generally low growth and mixed return environment, 
with continued migration from active to passive strategies.  Together with continuing regulatory changes, these factors 
continue to put pressure on fees, contributing to the consolidation of products and managers on distribution platforms.  These 
factors also continue to create significant flow challenges for active managers like ourselves.  

While the economic outlook for the U.S. has remained positive in recent years, it has been impacted by increased uncertainty.  
This uncertainty over time has led to increased volatility in the U.S. and international equity and bond markets.  The volatility 
of the markets highlights the importance of a strong investment strategy.  The financial environment in which we operate 
continues to reflect a heightened level of sensitivity and continued pressure on our fees, as discussed above.
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Three Months Ended December 31, 2019, Compared to Three Months Ended December 31, 2018 

Assets Under Management

Our AUM is primarily managed across the following asset classes:

Equity Fixed Income Alternative Liquidity
- Large Cap Growth - U.S. Intermediate Investment Grade - Real Estate - U.S. Managed Cash
- Equity Income - U.S. Long Duration - Hedge Funds - U.S. Municipal Cash
- All Cap Growth - U.S. Credit Aggregate - Listed

Infrastructure- Large Cap Value - Global Opportunistic Fixed Income
- International Equity - Global Fixed Income
- Small Cap Core - U.S. Municipal
- Large Cap Core - Global Sovereign
- All Cap Value - Non-Traditional Bond
- Small Cap Value - Short Duration
- Small Cap Growth - Global Government
- Emerging Markets Equity - Intermediate
- Mid Cap Core - High Yield
- Small/Mid Cap - Liability Driven
- Small Cap International
- Mid Cap Growth
- Global Equity

The components of the changes in our AUM (in billions) were as follows:

Three Months Ended
December 31,

  2019 2018
Beginning of period $ 781.8 $ 755.4
Net client cash flows:

Investment funds, excluding liquidity products(1):  
Subscriptions 16.6 14.4
Redemptions (12.9) (19.7)

Long-term separate account flows, net (5.3) (3.2)
Total long-term flows (1.6) (8.5)
Total liquidity flows — 10.5

Total net client cash flows (1.6) 2.0
Realizations(2) (0.6) (0.2)
Market performance and other(3) 20.9 (30.0)
Impact of foreign exchange 3.0 —
End of period $ 803.5 $ 727.2

(1) Subscriptions and redemptions reflect the gross activity in the funds and include assets transferred between funds and between share classes.  
(2) Realizations represent investment manager-driven distributions primarily related to the sale of assets.  Realizations are specific to our alternative managers 

and do not include client-driven distributions (e.g., client requested redemptions, liquidations or asset transfers).
(3)  Other primarily includes the reinvestment of dividends.

AUM at December 31, 2019 was $803.5 billion, an increase of $21.7 billion, or 3%, from September 30, 2019.  Total net 
long-term client outflows were $1.6 billion, comprised of equity net outflows of $4.8 billion, partially offset by fixed income 
net inflows of $1.7 billion and alternative net inflows of $1.5 billion. Liquidity asset class flows were flat.  Equity net outflows 
were primarily from products managed by ClearBridge Investments (“ClearBridge”), Brandywine Global Investment 
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Management ("Brandywine"), Royce Investment Partners (“Royce”), and QS Investors, partially offset by net inflows in 
products managed by Martin Currie.  Fixed income net inflows were primarily in products managed by Western Asset 
Management Company ("Western Asset"), partially offset by net outflows from products managed by Brandywine.  
Alternative net inflows were in products managed by Clarion Partners and RARE Infrastructure, partially offset by net 
outflows from products managed by EnTrust Global. In general, we earn higher fees and profits per dollar of alternative and 
equity AUM, and outflows in those asset classes more negatively impact our revenues and Net Income (Loss) Attributable 
to Legg Mason, Inc. than do outflows in the fixed income and liquidity asset classes.  The positive impact of market 
performance and other was $20.9 billion.  The positive impact of foreign exchange fluctuations was $3.0 billion.

Our net client cash flows also reflect the significant industry-wide flow pressure for active managers of equity and fixed 
income assets discussed above under the heading "Business Environment".

AUM by Asset Class
AUM by asset class (in billions) was as follows:

As of December 31, 2019
% of
Total 2018

% of
Total % Change

 Equity $ 214.0 27% $ 181.0 25% 18%
Fixed income 451.8 56 406.6 56 11
Alternative 74.3 9 66.3 9 12

Total long-term assets 740.1 92 653.9 90 13
Liquidity 63.4 8 73.3 10 (14)
Total $ 803.5 100% $ 727.2 100% 10%

Average AUM by asset class (in billions) was as follows:

Three months ended December 31, 2019
% of
Total 2018

% of
Total % Change

 Equity $ 209.3 27% $ 198.2 27% 6%
Fixed income 447.3 56 407.4 55 10
Alternative 73.1 9 66.8 9 9

Total long-term assets 729.7 92 672.4 91 9
Liquidity 62.0 8 66.9 9 (7)
Total $ 791.7 100% $ 739.3 100% 7%
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The component changes in our AUM by asset class (in billions) were as follows:

  Equity
Fixed

Income Alternative
Total

Long-Term Liquidity Total
September 30, 2019 $ 203.3 $ 442.7 $ 72.6 $ 718.6 $ 63.2 $ 781.8

Investment funds, excluding liquidity funds(1):        
Subscriptions 4.6 9.6 2.4 16.6 — 16.6
Redemptions (5.8) (5.9) (1.2) (12.9) — (12.9)

Long-term separate account flows, net (3.6) (2.0) 0.3 (5.3) — (5.3)
Liquidity flows, net — — — — — —

Net client cash flows (4.8) 1.7 1.5 (1.6) — (1.6)
Realizations(2) — — (0.6) (0.6) — (0.6)
Market performance and other(3) 14.9 5.2 0.6 20.7 0.2 20.9
Impact of foreign exchange 0.6 2.2 0.2 3.0 — 3.0

December 31, 2019 $ 214.0 $ 451.8 $ 74.3 $ 740.1 $ 63.4 $ 803.5
(1) Subscriptions and redemptions reflect the gross activity in the funds and include assets transferred between funds and between share classes.
(2) Realizations represent investment manager-driven distributions primarily related to the sale of assets.  Realizations are specific to our alternative managers 

and do not include client-driven distributions (e.g., client requested redemptions, liquidations or asset transfers). 
(3) Other primarily includes the reinvestment of dividends.

  Equity
Fixed

Income Alternative
Total

Long-Term Liquidity Total
September 30, 2018 $ 214.5 $ 411.0 $ 67.4 $ 692.9 $ 62.5 $ 755.4
Investment funds, excluding liquidity funds(1):      

Subscriptions 5.4 7.8 1.2 14.4 — 14.4
Redemptions (7.6) (10.8) (1.3) (19.7) — (19.7)

Long-term separate account flows, net (1.1) (2.1) — (3.2) — (3.2)
Liquidity flows, net — — — — 10.5 10.5

Net client cash flows (3.3) (5.1) (0.1) (8.5) 10.5 2.0
Realizations(2) — — (0.2) (0.2) — (0.2)
Market performance and other(3) (30.2) 0.7 (0.8) (30.3) 0.3 (30.0)
December 31, 2018 $ 181.0 $ 406.6 $ 66.3 $ 653.9 $ 73.3 $ 727.2

(1) Subscriptions and redemptions reflect the gross activity in the funds and include assets transferred between funds and between share classes. 
(2) Realizations represent investment manager-driven distributions primarily related to the sale of assets.  Realizations are specific to our alternative managers 

and do not include client-driven distributions (e.g., client requested redemptions, liquidations or asset transfers). 
(3) Other primarily includes the reinvestment of dividends.
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AUM by Distribution Channel
Broadly, we have two principal distribution channels, Global Distribution and Affiliate/Other, through which we sell a variety 
of investment products and services.  Global Distribution, which consists of our centralized global distribution operations, 
principally sells U.S. and international mutual funds and other commingled vehicles, retail separately managed account 
programs, and sub-advisory accounts for insurance companies and similar clients.  Affiliate/Other consists of the distribution 
operations within our asset managers, which principally sell institutional separate account management, liquidity (money 
market) funds, real estate and other privately placed investment funds, and funds-of-hedge funds.

The component changes in our AUM by distribution channel (in billions):

Global
Distribution Affiliate/Other Total

September 30, 2019 $ 358.2 $ 423.6 $ 781.8
Net client cash flows, excluding liquidity 1.5 (3.1) (1.6)
Liquidity flows, net — — —

Net client cash flows 1.5 (3.1) (1.6)
Realizations(1) — (0.6) (0.6)
Market performance and other(2) 15.6 5.3 20.9
Impact of foreign exchange 1.3 1.7 3.0
December 31, 2019 $ 376.6 $ 426.9 $ 803.5

(1) Realizations represent investment manager-driven distributions primarily related to the sale of assets.  Realizations are specific to our alternative managers 
and do not include client-driven distributions (e.g., client requested redemptions, liquidations or asset transfers). 

(2) Other primarily includes the reinvestment of dividends.

Global
Distribution Affiliate/Other Total

September 30, 2018 $ 341.6 $ 413.8 $ 755.4
Net client cash flows, excluding liquidity (6.5) (2.0) (8.5)
Liquidity flows, net — 10.5 10.5

Net client cash flows (6.5) 8.5 2.0
Realizations(1) — (0.2) (0.2)
Market performance and other(2) (23.2) (6.8) (30.0)
Impact of foreign exchange 0.1 (0.1) —
December 31, 2018 $ 312.0 $ 415.2 $ 727.2

(1) Realizations represent investment manager-driven distributions primarily related to the sale of assets.  Realizations are specific to our alternative managers 
and do not include client-driven distributions (e.g., client requested redemptions, liquidations or asset transfers). 

(2) Other primarily includes the reinvestment of dividends.
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Operating Revenue Yield
We calculate operating revenue yields as the ratio of annualized total operating revenues, less performance fees, to average 
AUM.  Our overall operating revenue yield, less performance fees, across all asset classes and distribution channels was 36 
basis points ("bps") and 37 bps, for the three months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.  Our operating 
revenue yields by asset class and distribution channel were as follows:

Three Months Ended December 31,
2019 2018

Asset Class:
Equity 56 bps 59 bps
Fixed Income 26 bps 27 bps
Alternative 58 bps 59 bps
Liquidity 14 bps 13 bps
Total 36 bps 37 bps

Distribution Channel:
Global Distribution 40 bps 41 bps
Affiliate/Other 32 bps 34 bps

Our total operating revenue yield decreased over the last year primarily due to asset mix, the shift to lower fee vehicles and 
share classes and specific fee reductions.  The operating revenue yields for managing equity and alternative assets declined 
over the last year primarily due to a shift in the mix of assets from higher fee to lower fee vehicles and share classes and 
from higher fee to lower fee earning affiliates, and specific fee reductions.

Equity assets are primarily managed by ClearBridge, Royce, Brandywine, QS Investors and Martin Currie; alternative assets 
are managed by Clarion Partners, EnTrust Global and RARE Infrastructure; fixed income assets are primarily managed by 
Western Asset and Brandywine; and liquidity assets are managed by Western Asset.  Assets distributed through Legg Mason 
Global Distribution are predominately retail in nature.

Investment Performance

For a discussion of market conditions during the three and nine months ended December 31, 2019, see "Business 
Environment."
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The following table presents a summary of the percentages of our AUM by strategy(1) that outpaced their respective 
benchmarks for the trailing 1-year, 3-year, 5-year, and 10-year periods:

As of December 31, 2019 As of December 31, 2018
1-year 3-year 5-year 10-year 1-year 3-year 5-year 10-year

Total (includes liquidity) 78% 79% 83% 84% 41% 85% 78% 83%
Equity:

Large cap 18% 21% 52% 45% 57% 57% 33% 51%
Small cap 54% 68% 64% 41% 65% 79% 37% 45%
Total equity (includes other equity) 61% 56% 60% 50% 56% 57% 36% 51%

Fixed income:
U.S. taxable 97% 100% 99% 99% 24% 99% 88% 94%
U.S. tax-exempt (includes only one

strategy) 100% 100% 100% 100% 0% 100% 100% 100%
Global taxable 98% 99% 84% 97% 12% 90% 91% 99%
Total fixed income 97% 99% 94% 98% 19% 96% 90% 95%

Alternative 99% 95% 98% 99% 75% 73% 93% 56%

The following table presents a summary of the percentages of our U.S. mutual fund assets(2) that outpaced their Lipper 
category averages(2) for the trailing 1-year, 3-year, 5-year, and 10-year periods:

As of December 31, 2019 As of December 31, 2018
1-year 3-year 5-year 10-year 1-year 3-year 5-year 10-year

Total (excludes liquidity) 62% 65% 76% 68% 43% 69% 71% 65%
Equity:

Large cap 39% 40% 72% 54% 61% 61% 63% 42%
Small cap 52% 62% 72% 36% 73% 93% 55% 46%
Total equity (includes other equity) 45% 49% 72% 49% 62% 63% 59% 44%

Fixed income:
U.S. taxable 92% 95% 95% 91% 28% 91% 90% 92%
U.S. tax-exempt 13% 12% 30% 55% 19% 25% 56% 56%
Global taxable 80% 85% 45% 83% 23% 62% 81% 83%
Total fixed income 78% 80% 79% 84% 26% 75% 83% 84%

Alternative (includes only three funds) 0% 100% n/a n/a 30% 0% 0% n/a
n/a - not applicable

(1) For purposes of investment performance comparisons, strategies are an aggregation of portfolios (separate accounts, investment funds, and 
other products) into a single group that represents a particular investment objective.  In the case of separate accounts, the investment performance 
of the account is based upon the performance of the strategy to which the account has been assigned.  Each of our asset managers has its own 
specific guidelines for including portfolios in their strategies.  For those managers which manage both separate accounts and investment funds 
in the same strategy, the performance comparison for all of the assets is based upon the performance of the separate account.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, approximately 87% and 89%, respectively, of total AUM is included in strategy AUM, although not all 
strategies have 3-, 5-, and 10-year histories.  Total strategy AUM includes liquidity assets.  Certain assets are not included in reported performance 
comparisons.  These include: accounts that are not managed in accordance with the guidelines outlined above; accounts in strategies not 
marketed to potential clients; accounts that have not yet been assigned to a strategy; and certain smaller products at some of our affiliates.

Past performance is not indicative of future results.  For AUM included in institutional and retail separate accounts and investment funds 
managed in the same strategy as separate accounts, performance comparisons are based on gross-of-fee performance.  For investment funds 
which are not managed in a separate account format, performance comparisons are based on net-of-fee performance.  Funds-of-hedge funds 
generally do not have specified benchmarks.  For purposes of this comparison, performance of those products is net of fees, and is compared 
to the relevant HFRX Index.  These performance comparisons do not reflect the actual performance of any specific separate account or 
investment fund; individual separate account and investment fund performance may differ.

Effective July 1, 2019, comparative benchmarks for certain strategies were added to measure relative performance where a stated benchmark 
was not previously provided.  For comparative purposes, prior periods have been updated to reflect the relative returns using these comparative 
benchmarks, where applicable.

(2) Source: Lipper Inc. includes open-end, closed-end, and variable annuity funds. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the U.S. long-term mutual 
fund assets represented in the data accounted for 19% and 17%, respectively, of our total AUM.  The performance of our U.S. long-term mutual 
fund assets is included in the strategies.
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Results of Operations
In accordance with financial accounting standards on consolidation, we consolidate and separately identify amounts relating 
to certain sponsored investment products.  The consolidation of these investment products has no impact on Net Income 
(Loss) Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. and does not have a material impact on our consolidated operating results.  To the 
extent we have an investment in a consolidated investment product, the related gains and losses will impact Net Income 
(Loss) Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc.  See Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information 
regarding the consolidation of investment products.

Operating Revenues
The components of Total Operating Revenues (in millions), and the dollar and percentage changes between periods were as 
follows:

Three Months Ended December 31,

2019 2018
$

 Change
%

 Change
Investment advisory fees:

Separate accounts $ 266.6 $ 256.7 $ 9.9 4%
Funds 379.0 361.2 17.8 5
Performance fees 39.4 12.6 26.8 n/m

Distribution and service fees 67.6 72.2 (4.6) (6)
Other 1.3 1.6 (0.3) (19)
Total Operating Revenues $ 753.9 $ 704.3 $ 49.6 7%

Total Operating Revenues for the three months ended December 31, 2019, increased $49.6 million, or 7%, to $753.9 million, 
as compared to $704.3 million for the three months ended December 31, 2018, driven by a $27.7 million increase in investment 
advisory fees from funds and separate accounts, reflecting higher average long-term AUM, offset in part by a reduction in 
our total operating revenue yield from 37 basis points to 36 basis points, as previously discussed.  A $26.8 million increase 
in performance fees, $23.5 million of which were not passed through as compensation expense, also contributed to the 
increase.

Investment advisory fees from separate accounts increased $9.9 million, or 4%, to $266.6 million, as compared to $256.7
million for the three months ended December 31, 2018. Fees earned on fixed income and equity assets increased $9.0 million 
and $2.1 million, respectively, reflecting an increase in average fixed income and equity AUM, offset in part by a reduction 
in the average fee rates earned on fixed income and equity assets.  These increases were offset in part by a $1.2 million 
decrease in fees earned on alternative assets, reflecting a reduction in the average fees rates earned on alternative assets, 
offset in part by an increase in average alternative AUM.

Investment advisory fees from funds increased $17.8 million, or 5%, to $379.0 million, as compared to $361.2 million for 
the three months ended December 31, 2018. Fees earned on fixed income assets increased $9.0 million, driven by higher 
average fixed income AUM, offset in part by a reduction in the average fee rates earned on fixed income assets. Fees earned 
on alternative assets increased $8.2 million, reflecting higher average alternative AUM and an increase in the average fee 
rates earned on alternative assets. 

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, approximately 11% and 12%, respectively, of our long-term average AUM was in 
accounts that were eligible to earn performance fees at some point during the respective fiscal year.  Performance fees earned 
by Clarion Partners on assets invested with them prior to the acquisition closing in April 2016 are fully passed through to 
the Clarion Partners management team, per the terms of the acquisition agreement, and recorded as compensation expense, 
and therefore have no impact on Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc.  We expect the majority of pass through 
performance fees at Clarion Partners to phase out by fiscal 2022.  Excluding AUM eligible to earn pass through performance 
fees, approximately 7% and 8% of our long-term average AUM was in accounts that were performance fee eligible as of 
December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
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Investment advisory performance fees increased $26.8 million to $39.4 million, as compared to $12.6 million for the three 
months ended December 31, 2018, driven by a $17.8 million increase at EnTrust Global, a $5.0 million increase at Western 
Asset, and a $3.3 million increase in pass through performance fees at Clarion Partners.

Distribution and service fees decreased $4.6 million, or 6%, to $67.6 million, as compared to $72.2 million for the three 
months ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to a reduction in the average fee rate earned on mutual fund AUM subject 
to distribution and service fees, reflecting a shift to lower fee share classes. 

Operating Expenses
The components of Total Operating Expenses (in millions), and the dollar and percentage changes between periods were as 
follows:

Three Months Ended December 31,

2019 2018
$

 Change
%

 Change
Compensation and benefits $ 375.0 $ 316.9 $ 58.1 18 %
Distribution and servicing 104.4 108.8 (4.4) (4)
Communications and technology 57.1 56.6 0.5 1
Occupancy 32.5 24.1 8.4 35
Amortization of intangible assets 6.0 6.1 (0.1) (2)
Impairment of intangible assets — 365.2 (365.2) n/m
Other 48.9 63.0 (14.1) (22)
Total Operating Expenses $ 623.9 $ 940.7 $ (316.8) (34)%

n/m - not meaningful

Operating expenses for the three months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, incurred at the investment management affiliate 
level represented approximately 70% of total operating expenses in each period (excluding intangible asset impairment 
charges in the prior year period).  The remaining operating expenses are corporate costs, including costs of our global 
distribution operations.
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The components of Compensation and benefits (in millions), and the dollar and percentage changes between periods were 
as follows:

Three Months Ended December 31,

2019 2018
$

 Change
%

 Change
Salaries, incentives and benefits $ 341.9 $ 320.3 $ 21.6 7%
Strategic restructuring 10.2 — 10.2 n/m
Affiliate charges 0.2 — 0.2 n/m
Performance fee pass through 10.7 7.4 3.3 45
Gains (losses)on deferred compensation and seed capital

investments 12.0 (10.8) 22.8 n/m
Compensation and benefits $ 375.0 $ 316.9 $ 58.1 18%

n/m - not meaningful

Compensation and benefits increased 18% to $375.0 million for the three months ended December 31, 2019, as compared 
to $316.9 million for the three months ended December 31, 2018.

• Salaries, incentives and benefits increased $21.6 million, to $341.9 million, as compared to $320.3 million for the 
three months ended December 31, 2018.  The increase was primarily due to a $23.0 million increase in net 
compensation at investment affiliates, driven by an increase in operating revenues at certain affiliates. Increases in 
operating revenues at revenue-share based affiliates typically create a corresponding increase in compensation per 
the applicable revenue share agreements.  A $6.6 million increase in salary and incentive compensation related to 
corporate and distribution personnel, including increased sales commissions, also contributed to the increase.  These 
increases were partially offset by $11.1 million in savings from our strategic restructuring.

• Strategic restructuring costs of $10.2 million for the three months ended December 31, 2019, were primarily 
comprised of employee termination benefit costs, including severance and the acceleration of deferred compensation 
awards.  See Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Compensation as a percentage of operating revenues increased to 49.7%, as compared to 45.0% for the three months ended 
December 31, 2018, primarily due to the impact of market gains on deferred compensation and seed capital investments 
recognized in the current year period, as compared to losses on such assets in the prior year period, and costs incurred in 
connection with our strategic restructuring in the current year period.

Distribution and servicing expense decreased $4.4 million, or 4%, to $104.4 million, as compared to $108.8 million for the 
three months ended December 31, 2018, reflecting a shift in average AUM subject to distribution and service fees to lower 
fee share classes, as previously discussed. 

Occupancy expense increased $8.4 million, or 35%, to $32.5 million, as compared to $24.1 million for the three months 
ended  December 31, 2018, primarily due to strategic restructuring costs of $5.9 million, largely related to space vacated in 
our corporate headquarters.

Impairment of intangible assets was $365.2 million for the three months ended December 31, 2018.  The impairment charges 
recognized during the three months ended December 31, 2018, were comprised of $274.6 million and $18.2 million related 
to the EnTrustPermal indefinite-life fund managements contracts asset and trade name asset, respectively, and $65.0 million, 
$6.4 million, and $1.0 million related to the RARE Infrastructure indefinite-life fund management contracts asset, amortizable 
fund management contracts asset, and trade name asset, respectively.  The impairments to the EnTrustPermal assets were 
primarily the result of continued net client outflows from legacy high net worth fund products leading to reduced growth 
expectations in both management fees and performance fees, a declining margin, and a higher discount rate.  The impairments 
to the RARE Infrastructure indefinite-life fund management contracts and trade name assets were primarily the result of 
lower than expected net client inflows and performance fees, leading to a lower margin, and a higher discount rate.  The 
impairment to the RARE Infrastructure amortizable asset resulted from losses of separate account AUM and the related 
decline in projected revenues.  A revised estimate of the remaining useful life of the RARE Infrastructure separate account 
contracts intangible asset also contributed to the impairment of that asset.  See Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements for further discussion of these impairment charges.



Table of Contents

51

Other expense decreased $14.1 million, or 22%, to $48.9 million, as compared to $63.0 million for the three months ended 
December 31, 2018, primarily due to $7.4 million of savings associated with our strategic restructuring, as well as a decrease 
in advertising expense and professional fees.

Non-Operating Income (Expense)
The components of Total Non-Operating Income (Expense) (in millions), and the dollar and percentage changes between 
periods were as follows:

Three Months Ended December 31,

2019 2018
$

 Change
%

 Change
Interest income $ 2.9 $ 3.1 $ (0.2) (6)%
Interest expense (27.0) (28.8) 1.8 (6)
Other income (expense), net 18.0 (7.0) 25.0 n/m
Non-operating income (expense) of consolidated investment

vehicles, net 0.8 2.4 (1.6) (67)
Total Non-Operating Income (Expense) $ (5.3) $ (30.3) $ 25.0 (83)%

Interest expense decreased $1.8 million, or 6%, to $27.0 million, as compared to $28.8 million for the three months ended 
December 31, 2019, primarily due to the repayment of our $250 million 2.7% Senior Notes in July 2019.

Other income (expense), net, totaled income of $18.0 million for the three months ended December 31, 2019, as compared 
to expense of $7.0 million for the three months ended December 31, 2018.  The three months ended December 31, 2019 
included net market gains of $12.0 million on seed capital investments and assets invested for deferred compensation plans, 
which were offset by a corresponding increase in compensation expense, and $6.2 million of net market gains on corporate 
investments not offset in compensation expense.  The three months ended December 31, 2018 included net market losses 
of $10.8 million on seed capital investments and assets invested for deferred compensation plans, which were offset by a 
corresponding decrease in compensation expense, and net market losses on corporate investments of $4.9 million.  These 
losses were offset in part by an $8.4 million distribution from an investment holding.

Non-operating income (expense) of CIVs, net, totaled income of $0.8 million for the three months ended December 31, 
2019, as compared to income of $2.4 million for the three months ended December 31, 2018.  The change was due to activity 
of the CIVs during the respective periods.  See Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional 
information regarding the consolidation of sponsored investment vehicles and net market gains on investments of certain 
CIVs.

Income Tax Provision (Benefit)
The income tax provision was $33.7 million for the three months ended December 31, 2019, as compared to an income tax 
benefit of $60.4 million for the three months ended December 31, 2018.  The effective tax rate was 27.0% for the three 
months ended December 31, 2019, as compared to 22.6% for the three months ended December 31, 2018.  The effective 
tax rate for the three months ended December 31, 2019 reflects discrete tax expense of $3.3 million relating to state law 
changes, offset in part by a discrete tax benefit of $2.7 million.  The net impact of all discrete tax items on the effective 
income tax rate was not material for the three months ended December 31, 2019.  The three months ended December 31, 
2018, reflects discrete tax expense of $14.1 million related to uncertain tax positions for federal, state and local taxes (including 
those relating to legislative changes) and $0.7 million of other discrete tax expenses, which together reduced the effective 
tax rate by 5.5 percentage points.  
   
CIVs and other consolidated sponsored investment products did not have a material impact on the effective tax rate for the 
three months ended December 31, 2019 or 2018.

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. and Operating Margin
Net Income Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. for the three months ended December 31, 2019 was $74.8 million, or $0.83 
per diluted share, as compared to Net Loss Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. of $216.9 million, or $2.55 per diluted share, 
for the three months ended December 31, 2018.  The increase in Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. was 
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primarily driven by non-cash intangible impairment charges of $365.2 million, or $3.17 per diluted share, recognized in the 
prior year period. The increase was also driven by higher operating revenues in the current year period, reflecting an increase 
in investment advisory fees from funds and separate accounts, driven by higher average long-term AUM, an increase in 
performance fees which were not passed through as compensation expense, and the impact of savings from our strategic 
restructuring.

Operating margin was 17.2% for the three months ended December 31, 2019, as compared to (33.6)% for the three months 
ended December 31, 2018, reflecting the impact of the non-cash impairment charges recognized in the three months ended 
December 31, 2018.

Nine Months Ended December 31, 2019, Compared to Nine Months Ended December 31, 2018 

Assets Under Management

The components of the changes in our AUM (in billions) were as follows: 

Nine Months Ended
 December 31,

  2019 2018
Beginning of period $ 758.0 $ 754.1
Net client cash flows:

Investment funds, excluding liquidity funds(1)  
Subscriptions 51.8 41.2
Redemptions (43.5) (50.6)

Long-term separate account flows, net (9.0) (0.9)
Total long-term flows (0.7) (10.3)
Total liquidity flows (5.1) 10.4

Total net client cash flows (5.8) 0.1
Realizations(2) (1.2) (0.7)
Market performance and other(3) 51.4 (17.8)
Impact of foreign exchange 0.5 (8.5)
Acquisition 0.6 —
End of period $ 803.5 $ 727.2

(1) Subscriptions and redemptions reflect the gross activity in the funds and include assets transferred between funds and between share classes.
(2) Realizations represent investment manager-driven distributions primarily related to the sale of assets.  Realizations are specific to our alternative managers 

and do not include client-driven distributions (e.g., client requested redemptions, liquidations or asset transfers). 
(3) Other primarily includes the reinvestment of dividends.

AUM at December 31, 2019, was $803.5 billion, an increase of $45.5 billion, or 6%, from March 31, 2019.  Total net client 
outflows were $5.8 billion, comprised of $5.1 billion of net client outflows from the liquidity asset class and $0.7 billion of 
net client outflows from long-term asset classes.  Long-term asset net outflows were comprised of equity net outflows of 
$10.5 billion, partially offset by fixed income net inflows of $5.1 billion and alternative net inflows of $4.7 billion.  Equity 
net outflows were primarily from products managed by ClearBridge, Brandywine, Royce, and QS Investors.  Fixed income 
net inflows were primarily in products managed by Western Asset, offset in part by net outflows from products managed by 
Brandywine.  Alternative net inflows were in products managed by Clarion Partners, EnTrust Global and RARE Infrastructure. 
The positive impact of market performance and other was $51.4 billion and the positive impact of foreign currency exchange 
rate fluctuations was $0.5 billion.
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Average AUM by asset class (in billions) were as follows:

Nine Months Ended December 31, 2019
% of
Total 2018

% of
Total % Change

 Equity $ 205.6 26% $ 204.1 27% 1%
Fixed Income 438.0 56 411.9 55 6
Alternative 71.3 9 66.3 9 8

Total long-term assets 714.9 91 682.3 91 5
Liquidity 63.9 9 63.3 9 1
Total $ 778.8 100% $ 745.6 100% 4%

The component changes in our AUM by asset class (in billions) were as follows:

  Equity
Fixed

Income Alternative
Total

Long-Term Liquidity Total
March 31, 2019 $ 202.0 $ 419.6 $ 68.6 $ 690.2 $ 67.8 $ 758.0

Investment funds, excluding liquidity 
funds(1):  

Subscriptions 17.6 28.2 6.0 51.8 — 51.8
Redemptions (21.2) (19.6) (2.7) (43.5) — (43.5)

Long-term separate account flows, net (6.9) (3.5) 1.4 (9.0) — (9.0)
Liquidity flows, net — — — — (5.1) (5.1)

Net client cash flows (10.5) 5.1 4.7 (0.7) (5.1) (5.8)
Realizations(2) — — (1.2) (1.2) — (1.2)
Market performance and other(3) 22.4 26.7 1.6 50.7 0.7 51.4
Impact of foreign exchange 0.1 0.4 — 0.5 — 0.5
Acquisition — — 0.6 0.6 — 0.6
December 31, 2019 $ 214.0 $ 451.8 $ 74.3 $ 740.1 $ 63.4 $ 803.5
(1) Subscriptions and redemptions reflect the gross activity in the funds and include assets transferred between funds and between share classes.
(2) Realizations represent investment manager-driven distributions primarily related to the sale of assets.  Realizations are specific to our alternative managers 

and do not include client-driven distributions (e.g., client requested redemptions, liquidations or asset transfers). 
(3) Other primarily includes the reinvestment of dividends.

  Equity
Fixed

Income Alternative
Total

Long-Term Liquidity Total
March 31, 2018 $ 203.0 $ 422.3 $ 66.1 $ 691.4 $ 62.7 $ 754.1

Investment funds, excluding liquidity 
funds(1):  

Subscriptions 15.5 21.9 3.8 41.2 — 41.2
Redemptions (20.2) (26.6) (3.8) (50.6) — (50.6)

Long-term separate account flows, net (1.9) 0.4 0.6 (0.9) — (0.9)
Liquidity flows, net — — — — 10.4 10.4

Net client cash flows (6.6) (4.3) 0.6 (10.3) 10.4 0.1
Realizations(2) — — (0.7) (0.7) — (0.7)
Market performance and other (3) (14.0) (5.3) 0.7 (18.6) 0.8 (17.8)
Impact of foreign exchange (1.4) (6.1) (0.4) (7.9) (0.6) (8.5)
December 31, 2018 $ 181.0 $ 406.6 $ 66.3 $ 653.9 $ 73.3 $ 727.2
(1) Subscriptions and redemptions reflect the gross activity in the funds and include assets transferred between funds and between share classes.
(2) Realizations represent investment manager-driven distributions primarily related to the sale of assets. Realizations are specific to our alternative managers 

and do not include client-driven distributions (e.g., client requested redemptions, liquidations or asset transfers).
(3) Other primarily includes the reinvestment of dividends.
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AUM by Distribution Channel
The component changes in our AUM by distribution channel (in billions) were as follows:

Global
Distribution Affiliate/Other Total

March 31, 2019 $ 339.3 $ 418.7 $ 758.0
Net client cash flows, excluding liquidity 8.2 (8.9) (0.7)
Liquidity flows, net — (5.1) (5.1)

Net client cash flows 8.2 (14.0) (5.8)
Realizations(1) — (1.2) (1.2)
Market performance and other(2) 28.7 22.7 51.4
Impact of foreign exchange 0.4 0.1 0.5
Acquisition — 0.6 0.6
December 31, 2019 $ 376.6 $ 426.9 $ 803.5
(1) Realizations represent investment manager-driven distributions primarily related to the sale of assets.  Realizations are specific to our alternative managers 

and do not include client-driven distributions (e.g., client requested redemptions, liquidations or asset transfers).
(2) Other primarily includes the reinvestment of dividends.

Global
Distribution Affiliate/Other Total

March 31, 2018 $ 333.5 $ 420.6 $ 754.1
Net client cash flows, excluding liquidity (7.7) (2.6) (10.3)
Liquidity flows, net — 10.4 10.4

Net client cash flows (7.7) 7.8 0.1
Realizations(1) — (0.7) (0.7)
Market performance and other (2) (10.5) (7.3) (17.8)
Impact of foreign exchange (3.2) (5.3) (8.5)
December 31, 2018 $ 312.1 $ 415.1 $ 727.2

(1) Realizations represent investment manager-driven distributions primarily related to the sale of assets. Realizations are specific to our alternative managers 
and do not include client-driven distributions (e.g., client requested redemptions, liquidations or asset transfers).

(2) Other primarily includes the reinvestment of dividends.
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Results of Operations

Operating Revenues
The components of Total Operating Revenues (in millions), and the dollar and percentage changes between periods were as 
follows:

Nine Months Ended 
December 31,

2019 2018
$

 Change
%

 Change
Investment advisory fees:

Separate accounts $ 791.5 $ 778.1 $ 13.4 2 %
Funds 1,121.6 1,128.7 (7.1) (1)
Performance fees 81.1 68.5 12.6 18

Distribution and service fees 204.6 230.5 (25.9) (11)
Other 3.7 4.9 (1.2) (24)
Total Operating Revenues $ 2,202.5 $ 2,210.7 $ (8.2) — %

Total Operating Revenues for the nine months ended December 31, 2019, were $2.20 billion, a slight decrease from $2.21
billion for the nine months ended December 31, 2018.  The decrease was primarily due to a $25.9 million decrease in 
distribution and service fees, reflecting a shift to lower fee earning mutual fund share classes and lower average fund AUM 
earning distribution fee revenue, and a $10.4 million decrease in performance fees that were passed through as compensation 
expense.  These decreases were offset in part by an increase of $23.0 million in performance fees that were not passed 
through as compensation expense.

Investment advisory fees from separate accounts increased $13.4 million, or 2%, to $791.5 million, as compared to $778.1 
million for the nine months ended December 31, 2018. Fees earned on fixed income and equity assets increased $12.3 million 
and $4.4 million, respectively, reflecting an increase in average fixed income and equity AUM, offset in part by a reduction 
in the average fee rates earned on fixed income and equity assets.  These increases were offset in part by a $3.8 million 
decrease in fees earned on alternative assets, driven by lower average fee rates earned on alternative assets, offset in part by 
an increase in average alternative AUM.

Investment advisory fees from funds decreased $7.1 million, or 1%, to $1,121.6 million, as compared to $1,128.7 million 
for the nine months ended December 31, 2018. Fees earned on equity assets decreased $26.2 million, driven by lower average 
equity AUM.  This decrease was offset in part by a $15.6 million increase in fees earned on alternative assets, driven by 
higher average alternative AUM and higher average fee rates earned on alternative assets, and a $5.6 million increase in fees 
earned on fixed income assets due to higher average fixed income AUM, offset in part by lower average fee rates earned on 
fixed income assets.   

Investment advisory performance fees increased $12.6 million, to $81.1 million, as compared to $68.5 million for the nine 
months ended December 31, 2018, driven by a $15.7 million increase at EnTrust Global, a $5.3 million increase at Western 
Asset, and a $4.6 million increase in performance fees earned at Clarion Partners that were not passed through as compensation 
expense.  These increases were offset in party by a $10.4 million decrease in pass through performance fees at Clarion 
Partners and a $2.2 million decrease in performance fees at Brandywine.

Distribution and service fees decreased $25.9 million, or 11%, to $204.6 million, as compared to $230.5 million for the nine 
months ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to a reduction in the average fee rate earned on mutual fund AUM subject 
to distribution and service fees, reflecting a shift to lower fee share classes and lower average mutual fund AUM earning 
distribution fee revenue.
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Operating Expenses
The components of Total Operating Expenses (in millions), and the dollar and percentage changes between periods were as 
follows:

Nine Months Ended 
December 31,

2019 2018
$

 Change
%

 Change
Compensation and benefits $ 1,132.6 $ 1,043.3 $ 89.3 9 %
Distribution and servicing 313.4 340.0 (26.6) (8)
Communications and technology 166.3 170.9 (4.6) (3)
Occupancy 84.9 76.3 8.6 11
Amortization of intangible assets 16.9 18.4 (1.5) (8)
Impairment of intangible assets — 365.2 (365.2) n/m
Contingent consideration fair value adjustments (1.2) 0.6 (1.8) n/m
Other 150.7 171.0 (20.3) (12)
Total Operating Expenses $ 1,863.6 $ 2,185.7 $ (322.1) (15)%

n/m - not meaningful

Operating expenses  for the nine months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, incurred at the investment management affiliate 
level represented approximately 70% of total operating expenses in each period (excluding intangible asset impairment 
charges in the prior year period).  The remaining operating expenses are corporate costs, including costs of our global 
distribution operations.

The components of Compensation and benefits (in millions), and the dollar and percentage changes between periods were 
as follows:

Nine Months Ended 
December 31,

2019 2018
$

 Change
%

 Change
Salaries, incentives and benefits $ 1,022.0 $ 1,003.9 $ 18.1 2%
Acquisition and transition-related costs — 0.9 (0.9) n/m
Strategic restructuring 53.3 — 53.3 n/m
Affiliate charges 1.7 — 1.7 n/m
Performance fee pass through 33.7 44.1 (10.4) (24)
Gains (losses) on deferred compensation and seed capital

investments 21.9 (5.6) 27.5 n/m
Compensation and benefits $ 1,132.6 $ 1,043.3 $ 89.3 9%

n/m - not meaningful

Compensation and benefits increased 9% to $1,132.6 million for the nine months ended December 31, 2019, as compared 
to $1,043.3 million for the nine months ended December 31, 2018.

• Salaries, incentives and benefits increased $18.1 million, to $1,022.0 million, as compared to $1,003.9 million for 
the nine months ended December 31, 2018, driven by a $19.0 million increase in net compensation and benefits at 
investment affiliates, primarily due to an increase in operating revenues at certain revenue share-based affiliates, 
which typically creates a corresponding increase in compensation per the applicable revenue share agreements, and 
a $15.7 million increase in salary and incentive compensation expense related to corporate and distribution personnel, 
including higher sales commissions.  A $5.4 million increase in deferred compensation expense due to higher annual 
acceleration of awards for retirement eligible employees also contributed to the increase.  These increases were 
offset in part by $21.5 million in savings from our strategic restructuring.
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• Strategic restructuring costs of $53.3 million for the nine months ended December 31, 2019, were primarily 
comprised of employee termination benefit costs, including severance and the acceleration of deferred compensation 
awards.  See Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

• Affiliate charges of $1.7 million for the nine months ended December 31, 2019, were comprised of severance costs 
associated with restructuring plans at certain affiliates. 

Compensation as a percentage of operating revenues increased to 51.4%, as compared to 47.2% for the nine months ended 
December 31, 2018, primarily due to costs incurred in connection with our strategic restructuring and the impact of market 
gains on deferred compensation and seed capital investments recognized in the current year period, as compared to market 
losses on such assets recognized in the prior year period.

Distribution and servicing expenses decreased 8% to $313.4 million, as compared to $340.0 million for the nine months
ended December 31, 2018, reflecting a shift in the mix of AUM subject to distribution and service fees to lower fee share 
classes.

Communications and technology expense decreased 3% to $166.3 million, as compared to $170.9 million for the nine months 
ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to savings associated with our strategic restructuring.

Occupancy expense increased 11% to $84.9 million, as compared to $76.3 million for the nine months ended December 31, 
2018, primarily due to strategic restructuring costs of $5.9 million, largely related to space vacated in our corporate 
headquarters.

Impairment of intangible assets was $365.2 million for the nine months ended December 31, 2018.  The impairment charges 
recognized during the nine months ended December 31, 2018 were comprised of $274.6 million and $18.2 million related 
to the EnTrustPermal indefinite-life fund managements contracts asset and trade name asset, respectively, and $65.0 million, 
$6.4 million, and $1.0 million related to the RARE Infrastructure indefinite-life fund management contracts asset, amortizable 
fund management contracts asset, and trade name asset, respectively.  These impairments are further discussed above.

Contingent consideration fair value adjustments for the nine months ended December 31, 2019, included a credit of $1.2 
million, which reduced the contingent consideration liability associated with a small acquisition completed in December 
2017, and for the nine months ended December 31, 2018, included an expense of $0.6 million which increased the contingent 
consideration liability related to the acquisition of QS Investors.

Other expense decreased $20.3 million to $150.7 million, as compared to $171.0 million for the nine months ended December 
31, 2018, primarily due to $18.6 million of savings associated with our strategic restructuring, $11.8 million of corporate 
restructuring costs recognized in the prior year period, and a $4.2 million charge recognized in the prior year period for a 
regulatory matter. These decreases were offset in part by $6.2 million of strategic restructuring costs and $6.2 million of 
corporate restructuring costs recognized in the current year period, and $3.4 million of foreign exchange losses.
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Non-Operating Income (Expense)
The components of Total Non-Operating Income (Expense) (in millions), and the dollar and percentage changes between 
periods were as follows:

Nine Months Ended 
December 31,

2019 2018
$

 Change
%

 Change
Interest income $ 9.5 $ 8.0 $ 1.5 19 %
Interest expense (82.8) (88.6) 5.8 (7)
Other income (expense), net 29.1 6.8 22.3 n/m
Non-operating income (expense) of consolidated investment

vehicles, net 14.9 2.0 12.9 n/m
Total Non-Operating Income (Expense) $ (29.3) $ (71.8) $ 42.5 (59)%

Interest expense decreased $5.8 million, or 7%, to $82.8 million, as compared to $88.6 million for the nine months ended 
December 31, 2019, primarily due to the repayment of $125.5 million of outstanding borrowings under our Credit Agreement 
in September 2018 and the repayment of our $250 million 2.7% Senior Notes in July 2019.

Other income (expense), net, totaled income of $29.1 million for the nine months ended December 31, 2019, as compared 
to income of $6.8 million for the nine months ended December 31, 2018.  The nine months ended December 31, 2019 
included net market gains of $21.9 million on seed capital investments and assets invested for deferred compensation plans, 
which were offset by a corresponding increase in compensation expense, and $6.4 million of net market gains on corporate 
investments not offset in compensation expense. The nine months ended December 31, 2018 included an $8.4 million 
distribution from an investment holding and $3.9 million of gains on corporate investments, offset in part by $5.6 million 
of net market losses on seed capital investments and assets invested for deferred compensation plans, which were offset by 
a corresponding decrease in compensation expense.  

Non-operating income (expense) of consolidated investment vehicles, net, totaled income of $14.9 million for the nine 
months ended December 31, 2019, as compared to income of $2.0 million for the nine months ended December 31, 2018.  
The change was primarily due to activity of the CIVs during the respective periods.  See Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements for additional information regarding the consolidation of sponsored investment vehicles and net market 
gains on investments of certain CIVs.

Income Tax Provision
The income tax provision was $80.5 million for the nine months ended December 31, 2019, as compared to $0.2 million 
for the nine months ended December 31, 2018.  The effective tax rate was 26.0% for the nine months ended December 31, 
2019, as compared to 0.4% for the nine months ended December 31, 2018.  

The effective tax rate for the nine months ended December 31, 2019 reflects discrete tax benefits of $4.1 million resulting 
from the settlement of a prior year audit and $2.7 million related to other items.  These benefits were substantially offset by 
discrete tax expense of $3.3 million relating to state law changes and $2.1 million for vested stock awards with a grant date 
exercise price higher than the vesting date stock prices. The net impact of all discrete tax items on the effective income tax 
rate was not material for the nine months ended December 31, 2019.

During the nine months ended December 31, 2018, a discrete tax expense of $14.1 million related to uncertain tax positions 
for federal, state and local taxes (including those related to legislative changes) was recognized. In addition, discrete tax 
benefits of $2.8 million related to the completion of a prior year tax audit and $1.8 million related to other discrete items 
were recognized. Together, the net impact of all discrete tax items reduced the effective income tax rate by 27.4 percentage 
points for the nine months ended December 31, 2018.

CIVs and other consolidated sponsored investment products reduced the effective tax rate by 0.8 percentage points percentage 
points for the nine months ended December 31, 2019. CIVs and other consolidated sponsored investment products did not 
have a material impact on the effective tax rate for the nine months ended December 31, 2018.
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Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. and Operating Margin  
Net Income Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. for the nine months ended December 31, 2019, totaled $187.2 million, or $2.08 
per diluted share, as compared to Net Loss Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. of $78.0 million, or $0.95 per diluted share, for 
the nine months ended December 31, 2018.  The increase in Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. was primarily 
driven by non-cash impairment charges totaling $365.2 million, or $3.15 per diluted share, recognized in the prior year 
period, as well as higher operating revenues in the current year period, reflecting an increase in performance fees that were 
not passed through as compensation expense and an increase in investment advisory fees from funds and separate accounts, 
driven by higher average long-term AUM.  These increases were offset in part by the previously discussed increase in 
compensation expense for corporate and distribution personnel, including increased sales commissions. 
 
Operating margin was 15.4% for the nine months ended December 31, 2019, as compared to 1.1% for the nine months ended 
December 31, 2018, reflecting the strategic and corporate restructuring costs discussed above for the nine months ended 
December 31, 2019, and the non-cash impairment charges recognized in the nine months ended December 31, 2018.

Three Months Ended December 31, 2019, Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2019 
Net Income Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. for the three months ended December 31, 2019, was $74.8 million, or $0.83 
per diluted share, as compared to $67.1 million, or $0.74 per diluted share, for the three months ended September 30, 2019. 
The increase in Net Income Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. was driven by an increase in performance fees that were not 
passed through as compensation expense, higher investment advisory fees from funds and separate accounts, reflecting 
higher average AUM, and savings from the strategic restructuring.

Operating revenues increased to $753.9 million for the three months ended December 31, 2019, as compared to $743.3 
million for the three months ended September 30, 2019.  The increase in operating revenues was primarily due to a $15.7 
million increase in performance fees that were not passed through as compensation expense, and an increase in fund and 
separate account advisory fee revenues of $5.4 million, or 1%, reflecting higher average long-term AUM.  These increases 
were offset in part by an $11.2 million decrease in pass through performance fees.

Total operating expenses were $623.9 million for the three months ended December 31, 2019, as compared to $618.3 million 
for the three months ended September 30, 2019.  The increase in operating expenses was primarily due to $5.9 million in 
occupancy-related strategic restructuring costs recognized in the current period, and a $3.1 million increase in 
communications and technology expense, reflecting higher consulting costs.  These increases were offset in part by a decrease 
of $2.7 million in compensation expense, driven by an $11.2 million decrease in pass through performance fees and a $4.2 
million decrease in strategic restructuring costs, offset in part by a higher gain in the market value of deferred compensation 
and seed capital investments. 

Non-operating income (expense), net, was expense of $5.3 million for the three months ended December 31, 2019, as 
compared to expense of $19.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019. The three months ended December 
31, 2019, included net market gains of $12.0 million on seed capital investments and assets invested for deferred compensation 
plans, which were offset by a corresponding increase in compensation expense, and $6.2 million of net market gains on 
corporate investments not offset in compensation expense. The three months ended September 30, 2019, included net market 
gains of $2.9 million on seed capital investments and assets invested for deferred compensation plans, which were 
substantially offset by net market losses of $2.9 million on corporate investments not offset in compensation expense.  Non-
operating income (expense), net, of CIVs was income of $0.8 million for the three months ended December 31, 2019, 
compared to income of $4.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2019.

Operating margin was 17.2% for the three months ended December 31, 2019, as compared to 16.8% for the three months 
ended September 30, 2019, with both periods reflecting the impact of the strategic and corporate restructuring costs.

Supplemental Non-GAAP Financial Information
As supplemental information, we are providing performance measures for "Adjusted Net Income", "Adjusted Earnings Per 
Diluted Share" ("Adjusted EPS") and “Adjusted Operating Margin”, along with a liquidity measure for "Adjusted EBITDA", 
each of which are based on methodologies other than generally accepted accounting principles ("non-GAAP").  Effective 
with the quarter ended June 30, 2019, we began disclosing Adjusted Operating Margin, which revises our prior disclosure 
of Operating Margin, as Adjusted, to include adjustments for restructuring costs and acquisition expenses and transition-
related costs for integration activities, each of which is further described below.
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Our management uses the performance measures as benchmarks to evaluate and compare our period-to-period operating 
performance.  We believe that these performance measures provide useful information about the operating results of our 
core asset management business and facilitate comparison of our results to other asset management firms and period-to-
period results.  We are also providing a non-GAAP liquidity measure for Adjusted EBITDA, which our management uses 
as a benchmark in evaluating and comparing our period-to-period liquidity.  We believe that this measure is useful to investors 
as it provides additional information with regard to our ability to meet working capital requirements, service our debt, and 
return capital to our stockholders.   

Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Earnings per Diluted Share
Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS only include adjustments for certain items that relate to operating performance, and 
therefore, are most readily reconcilable to Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. and Net Income (Loss) per 
Diluted Share Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. Shareholders, determined under generally accepted accounting principles 
("GAAP"), respectively.

We define Adjusted Net Income as Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. adjusted to exclude the following: 

• Restructuring costs, including:
 Corporate charges related to the ongoing strategic restructuring and other cost saving and business 

initiatives, including severance, lease and other costs; and
 Affiliate charges, including affiliate restructuring and severance costs, and certain one-time charges arising 

from the issuance of management equity plan awards
• Amortization of intangible assets
• Gains and losses on seed and other investments that are not offset by compensation or hedges
• Acquisition expenses and transition-related costs for integration activities, including certain related professional 

fees and costs associated with the transition and acquisition of acquired businesses
• Impairments of intangible assets
• Contingent consideration fair value adjustments
• Charges (credits) related to significant litigation or regulatory matters
• Income tax expense (benefit) adjustments to provide an effective non-GAAP tax rate commensurate with our 

expected annual pre-tax Adjusted Net Income, including:
 The impact on income tax expense (benefit) of the above non-GAAP adjustments; and
 Other tax items, including deferred tax asset and liability adjustments associated with statutory rate changes, 

the impact of other aspects of recent U.S. tax reform, and shortfalls (and windfalls) associated with stock-
based compensation

Adjustments for restructuring costs, gains and losses on seed and other investments that are not offset by compensation or 
hedges, and the income tax expense (benefit) items described above are included in the calculation because these items are 
not reflective of our core asset management business of providing investment management and related products and services.  
We adjust for acquisition-related items, including amortization of intangible assets, impairments of intangible assets, and 
contingent consideration fair value adjustments, to make it easier to identify trends affecting our underlying business that 
are not related to acquisitions to facilitate comparison of our operating results with the results of other asset management 
firms that have not engaged in significant acquisitions.  We adjust for charges (credits) related to significant litigation or 
regulatory matters, net of any insurance proceeds and revenue share adjustments, because these matters do not reflect the 
underlying operations and performance of our business.  

In calculating Adjusted EPS, we adjust Net Income (Loss) per Diluted Share Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. Shareholders 
determined under GAAP for the per share impact of each adjustment (net of taxes) included in the calculation of Adjusted 
Net Income.

These measures are provided in addition to Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc., and Net Income (Loss) per 
Diluted Share Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc. Shareholders, and are not substitutes for these measures. These non-GAAP 
measures should not be considered in isolation and may not be comparable to non-GAAP performance measures, including 
measures of adjusted earnings or adjusted income, and adjusted earnings per share, of other companies, respectively. Further, 
Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS are not liquidity measures and should not be used in place of cash flow measures 
determined under GAAP.
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The calculations of Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS are as follows (dollars in thousands, except per share amounts):

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
December 31,

 2019
September 30, 

2019
December 31,

 2018
December 31,

2019
December 31,

2018
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to

Legg Mason, Inc. $ 74,775 $ 67,083 $ (216,888) $ 187,208 $ (77,995)
Plus (less):
Restructuring costs:

Strategic restructuring and 
other corporate initiatives(1) 20,920 19,666 5,881 73,484 14,303

Affiliate charges(2) 237 237 — 1,677 —
Amortization of intangible assets 6,004 5,442 6,089 16,903 18,371
Gains and losses on seed and

other investments not offset by
compensation or hedges (4,827) (51) (4,314) (11,289) (12,014)

Acquisition and transition-
related costs — — — — 1,468

Impairments of intangible assets 365,200 365,200
Contingent consideration fair

value adjustments — — — (1,165) 571
Charges related to significant

regulatory matters — — — — 4,151
Income tax adjustments:(3)

Impacts of non-GAAP
adjustments (6,030) (6,954) (94,568) (21,619) (98,331)
Other tax items 2,100 220 14,856 620 13,095

Adjusted Net Income $ 93,179 $ 85,643 $ 76,256 $ 245,819 $ 228,819

Net Income (Loss) Per Diluted
Share Attributable to Legg
Mason, Inc. Shareholders $ 0.83 $ 0.74 $ (2.55) $ 2.08 $ (0.95)
Plus (less), net of tax impacts:
Restructuring costs:

Strategic restructuring and
other corporate initiatives 0.17 0.16 0.05 0.60 0.12

Affiliate charges — — — 0.01 —
Amortization of intangible assets 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.14 0.15
Gains and losses on seed and

other investments not offset by
compensation or hedges (0.04) — (0.04) (0.09) (0.10)

Acquisition and transition-
related costs — — — — 0.01

Impairments of intangible assets — — 3.17 — 3.15
Contingent consideration fair

value adjustments — — — (0.01) —
Charges related to significant

regulatory matters — — — — 0.05
Other tax items 0.02 — 0.18 0.01 0.16

Adjusted Earnings per Diluted
Share $ 1.03 $ 0.95 $ 0.86 $ 2.74 $ 2.59

(1) See Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding our strategic restructuring initiatives.
(2) See "Results of Operations" above for additional information regarding affiliate charges.
(3) The non-GAAP effective tax rates for the three months ended December 31, 2019, September 30, 2019 and December 30, 2018 were 25.9%, 27.3% 

and 18.5%, respectively, and for the nine months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, were 26.7% and 24.8%, respectively.
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Adjusted Net Income was $93.2 million, or $1.03 per diluted share, for the three months ended December 31, 2019, $85.6 
million, or $0.95 per diluted share, for the three months ended September 30, 2019, and $76.3 million, or $0.86 per diluted 
share, for the three months ended December 31, 2018.  The increase for the three months ended December 31, 2019, as 
compared to the three months ended December 31, 2018, was driven by the impact of savings from the strategic restructuring, 
and higher operating revenues, reflecting an increase in investment advisory fees from funds and separate accounts and 
performance fees that were not passed through as compensation expense.  The increase in Adjusted Net Income for the three 
months ended December 31, 2019, as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2019, was driven by an increase 
in performance fees that were not passed through as compensation expense, higher investment advisory fees from funds and 
separate accounts, reflecting higher average AUM, and savings from the strategic restructuring.

Adjusted Net Income was $245.8 million, or $2.74 per diluted share, for the nine months ended December 31, 2019, as 
compared to $228.8 million, or $2.59 per diluted share, for the nine months ended December 31, 2018.  Adjusted Net Income 
increased primarily due to savings from the strategic restructuring, as well as higher operating revenues in the current year 
period, reflecting an increase in performance fees that were not passed through as compensation expense and an increase in 
investment advisory fees from funds and separate accounts, driven by higher average long-term AUM.  These increases 
were offset in part by the previously discussed increase in compensation expense for corporate and distribution personnel, 
including increased sales commissions. 

Adjusted Operating Margin
We calculate Adjusted Operating Margin, by dividing “Adjusted Operating Income”, by “Adjusted Operating Revenues”, 
each of which is further discussed below.  These measures only include adjustments for certain items that relate to operating 
performance, and therefore, are most readily reconcilable to Operating Margin, Operating Income (Loss) and Total Operating 
Revenues determined under GAAP, respectively.  

We define Adjusted Operating Revenues as Operating Revenues, adjusted to:
• Include:

 Net investment advisory fees eliminated upon consolidation of investment vehicles
• Exclude:

 Distribution and servicing expenses, which we use to approximate our distribution revenues that are passed 
through to third parties as a direct cost of selling our products

 Performance fees that are passed through as compensation expense or net income (loss) attributable to 
noncontrolling interests

We define Adjusted Operating Income, as Operating Income (Loss), adjusted to exclude the following:   
• Restructuring costs, including:

 Corporate charges related to the ongoing strategic restructuring and other cost saving and business 
initiatives, including severance, lease and other costs; and

 Affiliate charges, including affiliate restructuring and severance costs, and certain one-time charges arising 
from the issuance of management equity plan awards

• Amortization of intangible assets
• The impact on compensation expense of: 

 Gains and losses on investments made to fund deferred compensation plans 
 Gains and losses on seed capital investments by our affiliates under revenue sharing arrangements 

• Acquisition expenses and transition-related costs for integration activities, including certain related professional 
fees and costs associated with the transition and acquisition of acquired businesses

• Impairments of intangible assets
• Contingent consideration fair value adjustments 
• Charges (credits) related to significant regulatory matters 
• Income (loss) of consolidated investment vehicles 

In calculating Adjusted Operating Income, we adjust for restructuring costs because these items are not reflective of our 
core asset management business of providing investment management and related products and services.  We adjust for the 
impact on compensation expense of gains and losses on investments made to fund deferred compensation plans and on seed 
capital investments by our affiliates under revenue sharing arrangements because they are offset by an equal amount in Non-
operating income (expense), net, and thus have no impact on Net Income Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc.  We adjust for 
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acquisition-related items, including amortization of intangible assets, impairments of intangible assets, and contingent 
consideration fair value adjustments, to make it easier to identify trends affecting our underlying business that are not related 
to acquisitions to facilitate comparison of our operating results with the results of other asset management firms that have 
not engaged in significant acquisitions.  We adjust for charges (credits) related to significant litigation or regulatory matters, 
net of any insurance proceeds and revenue share adjustments, because these matters do not reflect the underlying operations 
and performance of our business.  We adjust for income (loss) of consolidated investment vehicles because the consolidation 
of these investment vehicles does not have an impact on Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Legg Mason, Inc.   

These measures are provided in addition to and are not substitutes for our Operating Margin, Operating Revenues, and 
Operating Income (Loss) calculated under GAAP.  These non-GAAP measures should not be considered in isolation and 
may not be comparable to non-GAAP performance measures, including measures of adjusted margins, adjusted operating 
revenues, and adjusted operating income, of other companies.  Further, Adjusted Operating Margin, Adjusted Operating 
Revenues and Adjusted Operating Income are not liquidity measures and should not be used in place of cash flow measures 
determined under GAAP.

The calculations of Operating Margin and Adjusted Operating Margin, are as follows (dollars in thousands):

  Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
December 31,

 2019
September 30, 

2019
December 31,

2018
December 31,

2019
December 31,

2018
Operating Revenues, GAAP basis $ 753,914 $ 743,264 $ 704,322 $ 2,202,538 $ 2,210,654

Plus (less):  
Pass through performance fees (10,733) (21,914) (7,436) (33,677) (44,062)
Operating revenues eliminated

upon consolidation of
investment vehicles 69 156 155 350 461

Distribution and servicing
expense, excluding
consolidated investment
vehicles (104,349) (104,199) (108,771) (312,435) (339,845)

Adjusted Operating Revenues $ 638,901 $ 617,307 $ 588,270 $ 1,856,776 $ 1,827,208
Operating Income (Loss), GAAP

basis $ 129,994 $ 124,977 $ (236,427) $ 338,906 $ 24,977
Plus (less):  

Restructuring costs:
Strategic restructuring and

other corporate initiatives 20,920 19,666 5,881 73,484 14,303
Affiliate charges 237 237 — 1,677 —

Impairment of intangible assets — — 365,200 — 365,200
Amortization of intangible

assets 6,004 5,442 6,089 16,903 18,371
Gains (losses) on deferred

compensation and seed
investments, net 12,022 2,910 (10,826) 21,946 (5,590)

Acquisition and transition-
related costs — — — — 1,468

Contingent consideration fair
value adjustments — — — (1,165) 571

Charges related to significant
regulatory matters — — — — 4,151

Operating loss of consolidated
investment vehicles, net 172 1,298 343 1,729 1,331

Adjusted Operating Income $ 169,349 $ 154,530 $ 130,260 $ 453,480 $ 424,782

Operating Margin, GAAP basis 17.2% 16.8% (33.6)% 15.4% 1.1%
Adjusted Operating Margin 26.5 25.0 22.1 24.4 23.2
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Adjusted EBITDA
We define Adjusted EBITDA as cash provided by (used in) operating activities plus (minus):

• Interest expense, net of accretion and amortization of debt discounts and premiums 
• Current income tax expense (benefit) 
• Net change in assets and liabilities, which aligns with the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
• Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 
• Net gains (losses) and earnings on investments 
• Net gains (losses) on consolidated investment vehicles 
• Other  

Adjusted EBITDA is not reduced by equity-based compensation expense, including management equity plan non-cash 
issuance-related charges.  Most management equity plan units may be put to or called by Legg Mason for cash payment, 
although their terms do not require this to occur.

This liquidity measure is provided in addition to Cash provided by operating activities and may not be comparable to non-
GAAP performance measures or liquidity measures of other companies, including their measures of EBITDA or Adjusted 
EBITDA.  Further, this measure is not to be confused with Net Income (Loss), Cash provided by operating activities, or 
other measures of earnings or cash flows under GAAP, and is provided as a supplement to, and not in replacement of, GAAP 
measures.

The calculations of Adjusted EBITDA are as follows (dollars in thousands):

  Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
December 31,

2019
September
30, 2019

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2019

December 31,
2018

Cash provided by operating
activities, GAAP basis $ 335,358 $ 229,303 $ 256,591 $ 377,084 $ 443,989

Plus (less):
Interest expense, net of

accretion and amortization
of debt discounts and
premiums 26,676 26,874 28,259 81,925 86,956

Current tax expense (benefit) 6,137 6,927 (1,218) 8,818 17,635
Net change in assets and

liabilities (153,838) (111,207) (170,384) 38,032 (24,794)
Net change in assets and

liabilities of consolidated
investment vehicles (45,539) 8,061 60,158 (50,490) (9,966)

Net income attributable to
noncontrolling interests (16,228) (9,448) (10,498) (41,895) (31,043)

Net gains (losses) and
earnings on investments 662 2,329 21,367 9,739 36,495

Net gains (losses) on
consolidated investment
vehicles 814 4,529 2,369 14,904 1,954

Other (193) (101) (68) (637) (289)
Adjusted EBITDA $ 153,849 $ 157,267 $ 186,576 $ 437,480 $ 520,937

Adjusted EBITDA for the three months ended December 31, 2019, September 30, 2019, and December 31, 2018, was $153.8 
million, $157.3 million, and $186.6 million, respectively.  The decrease for the three months ended December 31, 2019, as 
compared to the three months ended September 30, 2018 was primarily due to strategic restructuring costs in the current 
period. 
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Adjusted EBITDA for the nine months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, was $437.5 million and $520.9 million, 
respectively.  The decrease for the nine months ended December 31, 2019, as compared to the nine months ended December 
31, 2018 was primarily due to strategic restructuring costs in the current period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of December 31, 2019, we had approximately $550 million in cash and cash equivalents in excess of our working capital 
and regulatory requirements.  The primary objective of our capital structure is to provide needed liquidity at all times, 
including maintaining required capital in certain subsidiaries. We review our overall funding needs and capital base on an 
ongoing basis to determine if the capital base meets the expected needs of our businesses.

The consolidation of variable interest entities discussed above does not impact our liquidity and capital resources.  However, 
we have executed total return swap arrangements with investors in certain exchange traded funds ("ETFs"), and as a result 
we receive the investors' related investment gains and losses on the ETFs and consolidate ETFs with significant open total 
return swap arrangements.  At December 31, 2019, the total return swap notional values aggregate $34.9 million.  If the total 
return swap counterparties were to terminate their positions, we may be required to invest in the ETFs an amount up to the 
notional value of the swaps terminated to support the products.  Otherwise, we have no rights to the benefits from, nor do 
we bear the risks associated with, the assets and liabilities of the CIVs and other consolidated sponsored investment products 
beyond our investments in and investment advisory fees generated from these products, which are eliminated in consolidation.  
Additionally, creditors of the CIVs and other consolidated sponsored investment products have no recourse to our general 
credit beyond the level of our investment, if any, so we do not consider these liabilities to be our obligations.

Our assets consist primarily of intangible assets, goodwill, cash and cash equivalents, investment securities, and investment 
advisory and related fee receivables.  Our operations have been principally funded by equity capital, long-term debt and 
retained earnings.  At December 31, 2019, cash and cash equivalents, total assets, long-term debt, net, and stockholders' 
equity were $0.8 billion, $8.0 billion, $2.0 billion and $3.8 billion, respectively.  Total assets include amounts related to 
CIVs and other consolidated sponsored investment products of $0.1 billion.

Cash and cash equivalents are primarily invested in liquid domestic and non-domestic money market funds that hold 
principally domestic and non-domestic government and agency securities, bank deposits and corporate commercial paper. 
We have not recognized any losses on these investments.  Our monitoring of cash and cash equivalents partially mitigates 
the potential that material risks may be associated with these balances.

The following table summarizes our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows:

Nine Months Ended December 31,
  2019 2018
Cash flows provided by operating activities $ 377.1 $ 444.0
Cash flows used in investing activities (39.1) (26.9)
Cash flows used in financing activities (425.1) (309.2)
Effect of exchange rate changes (12.9) (16.5)
Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (100.0) 91.4
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period 950.8 773.8
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash(1), end of period $ 850.8 $ 865.2

(1) Restricted cash was $27.2 million and $30.0 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Cash inflows provided by operating activities during the nine months ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, were $377.1 
million and $444.0 million, respectively, primarily related to Net Income (Loss), adjusted for non-cash items, including 
impairment charges totaling $365.2 million in the prior year period.

Cash outflows used in investing activities during the nine months ended December 31, 2019, were $39.1 million, primarily 
related to payments made for fixed assets, a minority investment in a U.K. retirement solutions provider, and the acquisition 
of Gramercy Europe (Jersey) Limited ("Gramercy"), further discussed below.  Cash outflows used in investing activities 
during the nine months ended December 31, 2018, were $26.9 million, primarily related to payments made for fixed assets, 
offset in part by returns of capital received on certain investments in partnerships and limited liability companies.
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Cash outflows used in financing activities during the nine months ended December 31, 2019, were $425.1 million, primarily 
related to the repayment of our $250 million 2.7% Senior Notes in July 2019, dividends paid of $102.0 million, net redemptions 
attributable to noncontrolling interests  in CIVs and other consolidated investment products of $32.6 million, and distributions 
to affiliate noncontrolling interest holders of $27.9 million.  Cash outflows used in financing activities during the nine months
ended December 31, 2018, were $309.2 million, primarily related to the repayment of $125.5 million of outstanding 
borrowings under our Credit Agreement, dividends paid of $84.6 million, net redemptions attributable to noncontrolling 
interests in CIVs and other consolidated investment products of $36.3 million, and distributions to noncontrolling interest 
holders of $32.4 million. 

Based on our current level of operations and anticipated growth, we expect that cash generated from our operating activities, 
together with available cash on hand, will be adequate to support our working capital needs for at least the next 12 months.  
We currently intend to utilize our available resources for activities including, but not limited to, strategic restructuring costs, 
acquisitions, seed capital investments in new and existing products, and payment of dividends.  In addition to our ordinary 
operating cash needs, we anticipate other cash needs during the next 12 months, as discussed below.

Acquisition and Contingent Consideration
On April 10, 2019, Clarion Partners acquired a majority interest in Gramercy, a European real estate asset management 
business specializing in pan-European logistics and industrial assets.  The transaction required an initial cash payment of 
$10.2 million, net of cash received, which was paid using existing cash resources. The transaction also provided for a potential 
contingent consideration payment of up to $3.6 million (using the exchange rate as of December 31, 2019 for the €3.3 million 
potential payment), due on the fifth anniversary of closing upon the achievement of certain financial metrics.  As of December 
31, 2019, the related contingent consideration liability was $3.4 million. 

Noncontrolling Interests
As further described below, we may be obligated to settle noncontrolling interests related to certain affiliates.  The following 
table presents a summary of the carrying values of our affiliate redeemable noncontrolling interests (in millions), excluding 
amounts related to management equity plans.  These carrying values reflect the estimated settlement values, except when 
such estimated settlement values are less than the issuance price, the carrying value reflects the issuance price.  The ultimate 
timing and amounts of noncontrolling interest settlements are generally too uncertain to project with any accuracy. 

EnTrust Global
Clarion
Partners Other Total

Affiliate noncontrolling interests as of December 31,
2019 $ 383.5 $ 128.6 $ 12.8 $ 524.9

Noncontrolling interests of 35% of the outstanding equity of EnTrust Permal and 18% of the outstanding equity of Clarion 
Partners are subject to put and call provisions that may result in future cash outlays, generally starting in fiscal 2022, but 
subject to earlier effectiveness in certain circumstances.

On May 10, 2019, we purchased the 15% equity interest in RARE Infrastructure held by the firm's management team for 
total consideration of $22.0 million.  The initial cash payment of $12.0 million, including $1.8 million of dividends in arrears, 
was made on May 10, 2019, using existing cash resources.  The remaining consideration will be due, subject to certain 
conditions, 50% one year after closing and 50% two years after closing.

See Notes 9 and 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Affiliate Management Equity Plans
In conjunction with the acquisition of Clarion Partners in April 2016, we implemented an affiliate management equity plan 
that entitles certain key employees of Clarion Partners to participate in 15% of the future growth, if any, of the enterprise 
value (subject to appropriate discounts) subsequent to the date of the grant.  In March 2016, we implemented an affiliate 
management equity plan with Royce.  Under this management equity plan, as of December 31, 2019, noncontrolling interests 
equivalent to 24.5% in the Royce entity have been issued to its management team.  In addition, we implemented an affiliate 
management equity plan in March 2014, that entitles certain key employees of ClearBridge to participate in 15% of the 
future growth, if any, of the enterprise value (subject to appropriate discounts).  As of December 31, 2019, the estimated 
redemption fair value for units under management equity plans aggregated $82 million.  Repurchases of units granted under 
the plans may impact future liquidity requirements, however, the amounts and timing of repurchases are too uncertain to 
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project with any accuracy.  See Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding 
affiliate management equity plans.

Future Outlook

Strategic Restructuring
As previously discussed, we have initiated a strategic restructuring to reduce costs.  We expect to incur aggregate restructuring 
costs in the range of $125 million to $135 million in connection with the strategic restructuring, which will be incurred 
through March 2021.  The majority of the restructuring costs will be paid in cash.  We have incurred $76.6 million of strategic 
restructuring costs through December 31, 2019, and approximately $18 million of these costs have been paid to date.  We 
expect to incur approximately $13 million to $18 million of costs during the remainder of fiscal 2020 and $35 million to 
$40 million of costs in fiscal 2021.  See Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.  
We expect that the strategic restructuring will result in future annual cost savings of $100 million or more, substantially all 
of which will be cash savings.  We expect to achieve these savings on a run rate basis by the end of fiscal 2021.  As of 
December 31, 2019, we have realized cumulative savings of approximately $49 million.

Short-term Debt and Long-term Borrowings
On July 15, 2019, we repaid the $250 million of 2.7% Senior Notes due July 2019, using existing cash resources.  We do 
not currently expect to raise incremental debt or equity financing over the next 12 months.  Going forward, there can be no 
assurances of these expectations as our projections could prove to be incorrect, events may occur that require additional 
liquidity in excess of amounts available under our Credit Agreement, such as an opportunity to refinance indebtedness or 
complete an acquisition, or market conditions might significantly worsen, affecting our results of operations and generation 
of available cash.  If these events result in our operations and available cash being insufficient to fund liquidity needs, we 
may seek to manage our available resources by taking actions such as reducing operating expenses, reducing our expected 
expenditures on investments, selling assets (such as investment securities), repatriating earnings from foreign subsidiaries, 
reducing our dividend, or modifying arrangements with our affiliates and/or employees.  Should these types of actions prove 
insufficient, or should an acquisition or refinancing opportunity arise, we would likely utilize borrowing capacity under our 
Credit Agreement or seek to raise additional equity or debt.

Liquid Assets
Our liquid assets include cash, cash equivalents, and certain current investment securities.  As of December 31, 2019, our 
total liquid assets of approximately $967 million, included $324 million of cash, cash equivalents, and investments held by 
foreign subsidiaries.  Other net working capital amounts of foreign subsidiaries were not significant.  In order to supplement 
cash available in the U.S. for general corporate purposes, we plan to utilize up to approximately $57 million of foreign cash 
over the next several years and anticipate that $36 million will be in the form of intercompany debt service payments by 
foreign affiliates, with the remainder provided from distribution of forecasted future offshore earnings.  No further repatriation 
of foreign earnings is currently planned, and no additional tax expense is anticipated.

Other
In connection with the acquisition of Clarion Partners in April 2016, we committed to ultimately provide $100 million of 
seed capital to Clarion Partners products. 

In January 2016, we acquired a minority equity position in Precidian Investments, LLC ("Precidian"). Under the terms of 
the transaction, we acquired series B preferred units of Precidian that entitle us to approximately 20% of the voting and 
economic interests of Precidian, along with customary preferred equity protections.  Precidian has executed license 
arrangements with various financial institutions to use the ActiveShares® product.  On January 22, 2020, we provided notice 
of our intent to convert our preferred units to 75% of the common equity of Precidian on a fully diluted basis, subject to 
satisfaction of certain closing conditions within the nine months following our notice.  We plan to use cash on hand for the 
related $25 million payment.

Our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2019, includes approximately 1% of total assets (9% of financial assets 
at fair value) and less than 1% of total liabilities (71% of financial liabilities measured at fair value) that meet the definition 
of Level 3.

On February 4, 2020, the Board of Directors approved a regular quarterly cash dividend in the amount of $0.40 per share,
payable on April 20, 2020.
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Contractual and Contingent Obligations 
We have contractual obligations to make future payments, principally in connection with our long-term debt, non-cancelable 
lease agreements, acquisition agreements and service agreements.  On July 15, 2019, we repaid $250 million of our 
outstanding long-term debt.  There were no other material changes to our contractual obligations during the nine months 
ended December 31, 2019.  See Notes 7, 8 and 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional disclosures 
related to our commitments.

Critical Accounting Policies
The following Critical Accounting Policies have been updated from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
March 31, 2019.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill 
Balances as of December 31, 2019, were as follows (in thousands):

Amortizable asset management contracts $ 115,398
Indefinite-life intangible assets 3,213,424
Trade names 48,695
Goodwill 1,896,097

$ 5,273,614

Our identifiable intangible assets consist primarily of asset management contracts, contracts to manage proprietary mutual 
funds, hedge funds or funds-of-hedge funds, and trade names resulting from acquisitions.  Asset management contracts are 
amortizable intangible assets that are capitalized at acquisition and amortized over the expected life of the contract.  Contracts 
to manage proprietary mutual funds, hedge funds or funds-of-hedge funds are indefinite-life intangible assets because we 
assume that there is no foreseeable limit on the contract period due to the likelihood of continued renewal at little or no cost.  
Similarly, trade names are considered indefinite-life intangible assets because they are expected to generate cash flows 
indefinitely.

In allocating the purchase price of an acquisition to intangible assets, we must determine the fair value of the assets acquired.  
We determine fair values of intangible assets acquired based upon projected future cash flows, which take into consideration 
estimates and assumptions including profit margins, growth and/or attrition rates for acquired contracts based upon historical 
experience and other factors, estimated contract lives, discount rates, projected net client flows and market performance.  
The determination of estimated contract lives requires judgment based upon historical client turnover and attrition rates and 
the probability that contracts with termination provisions will be renewed.  The discount rate employed is a weighted-average 
cost of capital that takes into consideration a premium representing the degree of risk inherent in the asset, as more fully 
described below.

Goodwill represents the residual amount of acquisition cost in excess of identified tangible and intangible assets and assumed 
liabilities.

Given the relative significance of our intangible assets and goodwill to our consolidated financial statements, on a quarterly 
basis we consider if triggering events have occurred that may indicate a significant change in fair values.  Triggering events 
may include significant adverse changes in our business or the legal or regulatory environment, loss of key personnel, 
significant business dispositions, or other events, including changes in economic arrangements with our affiliates that will 
impact future operating results.  If a triggering event has occurred, we perform quantitative tests, which include critical 
reviews of all significant assumptions, to determine if any intangible assets or goodwill are impaired.  If we have not 
qualitatively concluded that it is more likely than not that the respective fair values exceed the related carrying values, we 
perform these tests for indefinite-life intangible assets and goodwill annually.

Details of our intangible assets and goodwill and the related impairment tests follow.  

We performed our annual impairment testing of goodwill and indefinite-life intangible assets as of October 31, 2019, and 
determined that there was no impairment in the value of these assets.  We also performed our periodic impairment review 
of amortizable intangible assets as of October 31, 2019, and determined that there was no impairment in the value of these 
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assets.  We also reviewed more critical valuation inputs as of December 31, 2019 to determine that no further quantitative 
analyses were warranted. 

Amortizable Intangible Assets
Intangible assets subject to amortization are considered for impairment at each reporting period using an undiscounted cash 
flow analysis.  Significant assumptions used in assessing the recoverability of management contract intangible assets include 
projected cash flows generated by the contracts and the remaining lives of the contracts.  Projected cash flows are based on 
fees generated by current AUM for the applicable contracts.  Contracts are generally assumed to turnover evenly throughout 
the life of the intangible asset.  The remaining life of the asset is based upon factors such as average client retention and 
client turnover rates.  If the amortization periods are no longer appropriate, the expected lives are adjusted and the impact 
on the fair value is assessed.  Actual cash flows in any one period may vary from the projected cash flows without resulting 
in an impairment charge because a variance in any one period must be considered in conjunction with other assumptions 
that impact projected cash flows.

As of October 31, 2019, the fair value of the EnTrust Capital separate account contracts amortizable asset exceeded the 
carrying value of $37 million by 7%.  Despite the excess of fair value over the related carrying value, future decreases in 
our cash flow projections, resulting from actual results, or changes in assumptions due to client attrition and the related 
reduction in revenues, investment performance, market conditions, or other factors, may result in impairment of this asset.  
There can be no assurance that continued client attrition, asset outflows, market uncertainty, or other factors, will not produce 
an additional impairment in this asset. 

As of October 31, 2019, the Clarion Partners separate account contracts amortizable asset net carrying values of $65 million 
comprised approximately 55% of our total amortizable intangible asset management contracts and other aggregate carrying 
value.  As of December 31, 2019, the cumulative undiscounted cash flows related to this separate account contracts amortizable 
asset exceeded the carrying value by a material amount. 

The estimated remaining useful lives of amortizable intangible assets currently range from one to eight years with a weighted-
average life of approximately 5.6 years.

Indefinite-Life Intangible Assets
For intangible assets with lives that are indeterminable or indefinite, fair value is determined from a market participant's 
perspective based on projected discounted cash flows, taking into account the values market participants would pay in a 
taxable transaction to acquire the respective assets.  We have two primary types of indefinite-life intangible assets: proprietary 
fund contracts and, to a lesser extent, trade names.

We determine the fair value of our intangible assets based upon discounted projected cash flows, which take into consideration 
estimates of future fees, profit margins, growth rates, taxes, and discount rates.  The determination of the fair values of our 
indefinite-life intangible assets is highly dependent on these estimates and changes in these inputs could result in a material 
impairment of the related carrying values. An asset is determined to be impaired if the current implied fair value is less than 
the recorded carrying value of the asset.  If an asset is impaired, the difference between the current implied fair value and 
the carrying value of the asset reflected on the financial statements is recognized as an operating expense in the period in 
which the impairment is determined to exist.

Contracts that are managed and operated as a single unit, such as contracts within the same family of funds, are reviewed 
in aggregate and are considered interchangeable if investors can transfer between funds with limited restrictions. Similarly, 
cash flows generated by new funds added to the fund group are included when determining the fair value of the intangible 
asset.

Projected cash flows are based on annualized cash flows for the applicable contracts projected forward 40 years, assuming 
annual cash flow growth from estimated net client flows and projected market performance.  To estimate the projected cash 
flows, projected growth rates by affiliate are used to project their AUM.  Cash flow growth rates consider estimates of both 
AUM flows and market expectations by asset class (equity, fixed income, alternative, and liquidity) and by investment 
manager based upon, among other things, historical experience and expectations of future market and investment performance 
from internal and external sources.  Currently, our market growth assumptions are 4.5% for equity, 2% for fixed income, 
3% for alternative, and 0% for liquidity products, with a general assumption of 2% organic growth for all products, subject 
to exceptions for organic growth (contraction), generally in years one through five.
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The starting point for these assumptions is our corporate planning process that includes three-year AUM projections from 
the management of each operating affiliate that consider the specific business circumstances of each affiliate, with 
assumptions for certain affiliates adjusted, as appropriate, to reflect a market participant view.  Beyond year three, the 
estimates move towards our general organic growth assumption of 2%, as appropriate for each affiliate and asset class, 
through year 20.  The resulting cash flow growth rate for year 20 is held constant and used to further project cash flows 
through year 40.  Based on projected AUM by affiliate and asset class, affiliate advisory fee rates are applied to determine 
projected revenues.  The domestic mutual fund contracts projected revenues are applied to a weighted-average margin for 
the applicable affiliates that manage the AUM.  Margins are based on arrangements currently in place at each affiliate.  
Projected operating income is further reduced by an appropriate tax rate to calculate the projected cash flows.

We believe our growth assumptions are reasonable given our consideration of multiple inputs, including internal and external 
sources, although our assumptions are subject to change based on fluctuations in our actual results and market conditions.  
Our assumptions are also subject to change due to, among other factors, poor investment performance by one or more of 
our operating affiliates, the withdrawal of AUM by clients, changes in business climate, adverse regulatory actions, or loss 
of key personnel.  We consider these risks in the development of our growth assumptions and discount rates, discussed 
further below.  Further, actual cash flows in any one period may vary from the projected cash flows without resulting in an 
impairment charge because a variance in any one period must be considered in conjunction with other assumptions that 
impact projected cash flows.

Our process includes comparison of actual results to prior growth projections.  However, differences between actual results 
and our prior projections are not necessarily indicative of a need to reassess our estimates given that our discounted projected 
cash flow analyses include projections well beyond three years and variances in the near-years may be offset in subsequent 
years; fair value assessments are point-in-time, and the consistency of a fair value assessment with other indicators of value 
that reflect expectations of market participants at that point-in-time is critical evidence of the soundness of the estimate of 
value.  In subsequent periods, we consider the differences in actual results from our prior projections in considering the 
reasonableness of the growth assumptions used in our current impairment testing.

Discount rates are based on appropriately weighted estimated costs of debt and equity capital using a market participant 
perspective.  We estimate the cost of debt based on published debt rates. We estimate the cost of equity capital based on the 
Capital Asset Pricing Model, which considers the risk-free interest rate, peer-group betas, and company and equity risk 
premiums.  The equity risk is further adjusted to consider the relative risk associated with each of our indefinite-life intangible 
asset and our reporting unit. The discount rates are also calibrated based on an assessment of relevant market values.

Consistent with standard valuation practices for taxable transactions, the projected discounted cash flow analysis also factors 
in a tax benefit value, as appropriate. This tax benefit represents the discounted tax savings a third party that purchased an 
asset on a given valuation date would receive from future tax deductions for the amortization of the purchase price over 15 
years.

The domestic mutual fund contracts acquired in the Citigroup Asset Management (“CAM”) transaction of $2.1 billion, 
account for approximately 65% of our indefinite-life intangible assets.  As of October 31, 2019, approximately $163 billion 
of AUM, primarily managed by Western Asset and ClearBridge, was associated with this asset, with approximately 38% in 
equity AUM, 48% in fixed income AUM and 14% in liquidity AUM.  Although our domestic mutual funds overall have 
maintained strong recent market performance, previously disclosed uncertainties regarding market conditions and asset 
flows and risks related to potential regulatory changes in the liquidity business, are reflected in our projected discounted 
cash flow analyses.  Based on our projected discounted cash flow analyses, the related fair value exceeded its carrying value 
by a material amount.  For our impairment test, cash flows from the domestic mutual fund contracts were assumed to have 
annual growth rates averaging approximately 6% and reflect moderate AUM inflows. Projected cash flows of the domestic 
mutual fund contracts were discounted at 14.0%.

As of October 31, 2019, the Clarion Partners fund management contracts asset of $505 million accounted for approximately 
16% of our indefinite-life intangible assets.  Based on our projected discounted cash flow analyses, the related fair value 
exceeded its carrying value by a material amount.  For our impairment test, cash flows from the Clarion Partners fund 
management contracts were assumed to have long-term annual growth rates averaging 6% and reflect moderate AUM inflows 
throughout the projection period.  Projected cash flows of the Clarion Partners fund management contracts were discounted 
at 13.0%.
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As of October 31, 2019, the combined EnTrust Global fund management contracts asset of $127 million accounted for 
approximately 4% of our indefinite-life intangible assets and is supported by the combined EnTrust Global fund management 
business.  Based on our projected discounted cash flow analyses, the related fair value exceeded its carrying value by 10%.  
For our impairment test, base revenues related to EnTrust Global fund management contracts were assumed to have long-
term annual growth rates averaging 6%.  Given current experience, projected near-year cash flows reflect AUM outflows 
in years one and two, and trend to modest AUM inflows of 2% by year five.  The projected cash flows from the EnTrust 
Global fund management contracts were discounted at 15.5%.  

As of October 31, 2019, the RARE Infrastructure fund management contracts asset of $55 million accounted for approximately 
2% of our indefinite-life intangible assets.  Based on our projected discounted cash flow analyses, the related fair value 
exceeded its carrying value by a material amount.  For our impairment test, cash flows from the RARE Infrastructure fund 
management contracts were assumed to have long-term annual growth rates averaging 10%.  Given current experience, 
projected near-year cash flows reflect reduced AUM inflows throughout the projection period and modest performance fees.  
The projected cash flows from the RARE Infrastructure fund management contracts were discounted at 15.0%.  

Future decreases in our cash flow projections or increases in the discount rate, resulting from actual results, or changes in 
assumptions resulting from flow and AUM levels, investment performance, market conditions, or other factors, may result 
in impairment of this asset.  There can be no assurance that asset flows, market uncertainty, or other factors will not produce 
an impairment in this asset, which could be significant.

Trade names account for 1% of indefinite-life intangible assets and are primarily related to Clarion Partners and EnTrust 
Global, which had carrying values of $23 million and $10 million, respectively.  We tested these intangible assets using a 
relief from royalty approach and discounted cash flow methods similar to those described above for indefinite-life contracts.  
The resulting fair value of the EnTrust Global trade name exceeded the carrying value by 6%.  As of October 31, 2019, the 
resulting fair values of our other trade name assets significantly exceeded the related carrying amounts.  

Goodwill
Goodwill is evaluated at the reporting unit level and is considered for impairment when the carrying amount of the reporting 
unit exceeds the implied fair value of the reporting unit.  In estimating the implied fair value of the reporting unit, we use 
valuation techniques based on discounted projected cash flows and EBITDA multiples, similar to techniques employed in 
analyzing the purchase price of an acquisition.  We continue to be managed as one Global Asset Management operating 
segment.  Internal management reporting of discrete financial information regularly received by the chief operating decision 
maker, our Chief Executive Officer, is at the consolidated Global Asset Management business level.  As a result, goodwill 
is recorded and evaluated at one Global Asset Management reporting unit level.  Our Global Asset Management reporting 
unit consists of the operating businesses of our asset management affiliates and our centralized global distribution operations.  
In our impairment testing process, all consolidated assets (except for certain tax benefits) and liabilities are allocated to our 
single Global Asset Management reporting unit.  Similarly, the projected operating results of the reporting unit include our 
holding company corporate costs and overhead, including interest expense and costs associated with executive management, 
finance, human resources, legal and compliance, internal audit and other central corporate functions.

Goodwill principally originated from the acquisitions of CAM, Permal, Royce, Martin Currie, RARE Infrastructure, Clarion 
Partners, and EnTrust.  The value of the reporting unit is based in part, on projected consolidated net cash flows, including 
all cash flows of assets managed in our mutual funds, closed-end funds and other proprietary funds, in addition to separate 
account assets of our managers.

Significant assumptions used in assessing the implied fair value of the reporting unit under the discounted cash flow method 
are consistent with the methodology discussed above for indefinite-life intangible assets.  Also, at the reporting unit level, 
future corporate costs are estimated and consolidated with the projected operating results of all our affiliates.

Actual cash flows in any one period may vary from the projected cash flows without resulting in an impairment charge 
because a variance in any one period must be considered in conjunction with other assumptions that impact projected cash 
flows.

Discount rates are based on appropriately weighted estimated costs of debt using a market participant perspective, also 
consistent with the methodology discussed above for indefinite-life intangible assets.
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We also perform a market-based valuation of our reporting unit value, which applies an average of EBITDA multiples paid 
in change of control transactions for peer companies to our EBITDA.  The results of our two estimates of value for the 
reporting unit (the discounted cash flow and EBITDA multiple analyses) are compared and significant differences, if any, 
are assessed to determine the reasonableness of each value and whether any adjustment to either result is warranted.  Once 
the values are accepted, the appropriately weighted average of the two reporting unit valuations (the discounted cash flow 
and EBITDA multiple analyses) is used as the implied fair value of our Global Asset Management reporting unit, which at 
October 31, 2019, exceeded the carrying value by 22%.  Considering the relative merits of the details involved in each 
valuation process, we used an equal weighting of the two values for the 2019 testing. The significant assumptions used in 
the cash flow analysis included projected average annual cash flow growth rates of 7% and the projected cash flows were 
discounted at 16.0%. Changes in the assumptions underlying projected cash flows from the reporting unit or its EBITDA 
multiple, resulting from market conditions, reduced AUM or other factors, could result in an impairment of goodwill, and 
such an impairment could potentially have a material impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

We further assess the accuracy of the reporting unit value determined from these valuation methods by comparing their 
results to our market capitalization to determine an implied control premium.  The reasonableness of this implied control 
premium is considered by comparing it to control premiums that have been paid in relevant actual change of control 
transactions.  This assessment provides evidence that our underlying assumptions in our analyses of our reporting unit fair 
value are reasonable.

In calculating our market capitalization for these purposes, market volatility can have a significant impact on our 
capitalization, and if appropriate, we may consider the average market prices of our stock for a period of one or two months 
before the test date to determine market capitalization. A control premium arises from the fact that in an acquisition, there 
is typically a premium paid over current market prices of publicly traded companies that relates to the ability to control the 
operations of an acquired company. Further, assessments of control premiums in the asset management industry are difficult 
because many acquisitions involve privately held companies, or involve only portions of a public company, such that no 
control premium can be calculated.

Recent market evidence regarding control premiums suggest values of up to 173%, with an average of 24%.  Based on our 
analysis and consideration, we believe the implied control premium of 37% determined by our reporting unit value estimation 
at October 31, 2019, is reasonable in relation to the observed relevant market control premium values.

Recent Accounting Developments
See discussion of Recent Accounting Developments in Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

During the nine months ended December 31, 2019, there were no material changes to the information contained in Part II, 
Item 7A of Legg Mason’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019.

Item 4.  Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2019, Legg Mason's management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, 
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of Legg Mason's disclosure controls and procedures.  In evaluating 
the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well 
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management 
necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and 
procedures.  Based on that evaluation, Legg Mason's management, including its Chief Executive Officer and its Chief 
Financial Officer, concluded that Legg Mason's disclosure controls and procedures were effective on a reasonable assurances 
basis.  Other than noted below, there have been no changes in Legg Mason's internal controls over financial reporting that 
occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2019, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially 
affect, Legg Mason's internal control over financial reporting.

In November 2019, Legg Mason extended its use of an existing general ledger system to additional subsidiaries and provided  
enhancements to the existing system installation. Expansion of the system to additional subsidiaries and the related 
enhancements are intended to further improve the overall system of internal controls over financial reporting and ultimately 
provide efficiencies from one common general ledger system. The system expansion and enhancements are significant and 
complex, resulting in the modification of certain internal controls.
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PART II.  OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The following is an update to the risk factors set forth in our Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019. 
The risk factors below have been updated to include activity for the nine months ended December 31, 2019.

We May Incur Charges Related to Leased Facilities
We continue to be exposed to the risk of incurring charges related to subleases or vacant space for several of our leased 
offices.  As of December 31, 2019, our right-of-use (“ROU”) assets with commitments from third parties under non-
cancellable subleases were approximately $74 million.  As of December 31, 2019, our total ROU assets for office space that 
we vacated and are seeking to sublease were approximately $2 million, after impairment charges of approximately $4.3 
million recognized in the quarter ended December 31, 2019.  Under generally accepted accounting principles, when the 
carrying value of a ROU asset is deemed to not be fully recoverable, (i.e., at the time a sublease is entered into or space is 
deemed abandoned), we must incur a charge equal to the present value of the amounts by which the fixed rental commitments 
under the lease exceed the amounts expected to be received under a sublease, if any.  As a result, in a period of declining 
commercial lease markets, we are exposed to the risk of incurring charges relating to any premises we are seeking to sublease 
resulting from longer periods to identify sub-tenants and reduced market rent rates leading to new sub-tenants paying less 
in rent than we are paying under our lease. Also, if a sub-tenant defaults on its sublease, we would likely incur a charge for 
the rent that we will incur during the period that we expect would be required to sublease the premises and any reduction 
in rent that current market rent rates lead us to expect a new sub-tenant will pay. There can be no assurance that we will not 
recognize additional lease-related charges, which may be material to our results of operations.

Potential Impairment of Goodwill and Intangible Assets Could Increase our Expenses and Reduce our Assets
Determining goodwill and intangible assets, and evaluating them for impairment, requires significant management estimates 
and judgment, including estimating value and assessing life in connection with the allocation of purchase price in the 
acquisition creating them. Our goodwill and intangible assets may become impaired as a result of any number of factors, 
including losses of investment management contracts or declines in the value of managed assets. Any impairment of goodwill 
or intangibles could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. For example, during the quarter ended 
December 31, 2018, we incurred $365.2 million of aggregate impairment charges. These impairment charges were comprised 
of $274.6 million and $18.2 million associated with our combined EnTrust Global indefinite-life fund management contracts 
asset and trade name asset, respectively, and $65.0 million, $6.4 million, and $1.0 million, associated with our RARE 
Infrastructure indefinite-life fund management contracts asset, amortizable fund management contracts asset, and trade name 
asset, respectively. Subsequent to December 31, 2018, no additional intangible asset impairment charges have been 
recognized.  Further, as of October 31, 2019, the date of our most recent impairment testing, the assessed fair values of the 
EnTrust Global indefinite-life fund management contracts and trade name assets exceeded their respective carrying values 
of $126.8 million and $10.3 million by 10% and 6%, respectively, and the implied fair value of our Global Asset Management 
reporting unit exceeded its carry value of $1.9 billion by 22%. Changes in the assumptions underlying projected cash flows 
from the assets or reporting unit, resulting from market conditions, reduced AUM or other factors, could result in an 
impairment of any of these assets.

There can be no assurances that continued market uncertainty or asset outflows, or other factors, will not produce additional 
impairments.  See "Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - 
Critical Accounting Policies - Intangible Assets and Goodwill" and "Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements."
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Item 2.  Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The following table sets out information regarding our purchases of Legg Mason common stock in each month during the 
three months ended December 31, 2019:

Period

Total number
of shares

purchased (1)
Average price

paid per share (1)(2)

Total number of
shares purchased

as part of
publicly announced
plans or programs

Approximate dollar 
value that may

yet be purchased
under the plans

or programs
October 1, 2019 through

October 31, 2019 11,684 $ 37.74 — $ —
November 1, 2019 through

November 30, 2019 476 38.03 — —
December 1, 2019 through

December 31, 2019 127 39.27 — —
Total 12,287 37.76 — $ —

(1) Includes shares of vesting restricted stock, and shares received on vesting of restricted stock units, surrendered to Legg Mason to satisfy related 
income tax withholding obligations of employees via net share transactions. 

(2) Amounts exclude fees. 

Item 6.  Exhibits 

3.1 Articles of Incorporation of Legg Mason, as amended (incorporated by reference to Legg Mason's Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed July 28, 2011)

3.2 ByLaws of Legg Mason, as amended and restated June 12, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Legg Mason's 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 15, 2018)

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101 Financial statements from the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Legg Mason, Inc. for the quarter ended

December 31, 2019, filed on February 5, 2020, formatted in Inline XBRL: (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets,
(ii) the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss), (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(Loss), (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity, (v) the Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements tagged in detail.  The instance document
does not appear in the interactive data file because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL
document.
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SIGNATURES

 Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to 
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

        LEGG MASON, INC.

DATE: February 5, 2020 /s/ Joseph A. Sullivan
Joseph A. Sullivan
President, Chief Executive Officer, and
Chairman of the Board

DATE: February 5, 2020 /s/ Peter H. Nachtwey
Peter H. Nachtwey
Senior Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
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